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PREFACE

James Phelan, a legendary reporter, gave me the idea for a book about the pharmaceutical industry over twenty years ago. In the 1990s, Phelan, an old-fashioned shoe-leather reporter, and I shared the same book editor, Robert Loomis. Phelan had a deserved reputation for cracking big cases. The New York Times had dubbed him one of the country’s finest investigative journalists. Unmasking Clifford Irving’s “autobiography” of Howard Hughes as a hoax was his biggest scoop.

I had met Phelan while researching Case Closed, my reinvestigation of the JFK assassination. In the late 1960s his groundbreaking reporting exposed that New Orleans district attorney Jim Garrison had falsified evidence in his criminal probe of whether there was a Big Easy conspiracy link to the assassination.

In the summer of 1997, I called him for some advice on my examination of the Martin Luther King Jr. assassination. We also talked about the state of investigative journalism. Phelan, not someone I knew to indulge in nostalgia, reminisced that he thought it had changed mostly for the worse. The trend toward ever-shorter deadlines made it tougher, he thought, to undertake long-term investigations. Even good reporters might return after a few months without a breakthrough. He cited examples from his own reporting, including one when military investigators had coerced a fake murder confession from an Air Force officer and another in which a California chiropractor had fleeced millions from patients with a bogus “cure.” There was no certainty when he got those assignments that he would crack the story. The tips and strands of evidence that initially caught his attention might have turned into dead ends.

“That’s a risk that most magazine and newspaper editors no longer want to take,” he said. “You can at least still do it in books, there you have the time and space to get to the bottom of a good story.”

He did not hesitate when I asked what subject he still considered challenging for a book.

“The pharmaceutical business. It’s like throwing a dart at a storyboard.”

Phelan said he was too old at eighty-five to undertake such a large project. He did not tell me he was also too sick. A few months later I learned he had died of lung cancer. Our last conversation planted in me the idea of one day looking into a book about the drug industry. In publishing, however, even good ideas can take years before they come to fruition.

It was January 2016 when I sent my editor, Ben Loehnen, a proposal with the no-frills working title “A History of the American Pharmaceutical Industry.” I had read by then several dozen good books, each about some part of the story I hoped to cover in its entirety. There were histories of epidemics and pandemics, inspiring accounts of groundbreaking lab discoveries, biographies of storied scientists and pharma executives, even business histories of some companies. There was, however, no single volume that started with the wild anything-goes nineteenth-century era of homegrown “wonder remedies” to today’s sprawling pharma conglomerates that sell a trillion dollars of drugs annually.

When I sent that proposal to Ben, I had not started my research in earnest. A proposal is sometimes not much more than selecting the book’s topic. The finished manuscript might be radically different. Pharma proved to be a classic investigative story. Few will be surprised that a significant obstacle was the drug industry’s zealous protection of its secrets. That forced me to find drug executives, scientists, and government regulators who were willing to talk, some of whom had never spoken on the record. Others, fearing retribution from their employers or the industry itself, agreed to help only on the condition of anonymity. Besides those interviews, uncovering the information at the heart of this book required sifting through tens of thousands of pages of overlooked government regulatory documents, hunting for evidence buried in the exhibits of massive pharmaceutical litigation, and examining remote and seldom accessed private archives.

I did not expect to find one person or a single family who provided a narrative thread through which to examine the industry’s explosive growth after World War II. It was in those seventy postwar years that pharma transformed into a mega-industry.

The Lilly family, as well as the Mercks, Squibbs, and Johnsons, had left the industry as their companies became massive conglomerates. The term “Big Pharma” appeared first in news articles during the 1960s to describe a handful of dominant firms.1 New titans arrived, but much later during the biotechnology revolution. I had always intended to write a chapter about three brothers, Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond Sackler. They are best known today for buying in 1952 a small drug company, Purdue, that started manufacturing the opioid painkiller OxyContin in 1996.

During my research I discovered they played a much more extensive role in the drug business, often at critical junctures, starting in the 1940s. A largely unknown backstory of the Sacklers came alive in interviews and never-before-seen documents. In response to my Freedom of Information requests, FBI declassified files revealed the extent of the Sackler family’s radical left-wing politics and the Bureau’s suspicions about their loyalty to America. Notes and memos from a 1962 Senate committee had the details of what the investigative staff had uncovered about a hidden “Sackler empire.” And, in late 2018, a small treasure trove of documents arrived at my office. They were in a sealed, plain manila envelope postmarked from New York and without a return address. Inside were copies of FDA and DEA documents with answers to some long-standing questions about how the Sacklers rose to such tremendous power and wealth.

Pharma opens a rare insider’s window on the internecine battles between scientists and executives over drugs and money. It is about the secret world inside companies that are household names and how the quest for blockbuster drugs has at times crippled and distorted the industry’s original mission to develop medications that treat the sick and save lives.

Pharma has plenty of heroes and villains. There are brilliant scientists, conniving business executives, compliant government regulators, and brave whistleblowers. Serendipitous lifesaving drug discoveries by scientists contrast with disturbing tales of criminal price-fixing, conspiracies to cover up tainted drugs, and a rigged regulatory system that too often serves as a compliant rubber stamp for drug companies.

Pharma is an industry like no other.






1 PATIENT ZERO


“Get the patient into isolation now,” the doctor ordered. The patient was a woman in her mid-seventies from nearby Reno, Nevada. A few days earlier, she had arrived at the ER disoriented and running a fever. Temperatures that day had topped out at a stifling 100 degrees. The 2016 summer had been brutal even by the standards of a county that included a torrid stretch of Black Rock Desert.

When doctors learned she had recently returned from a trip to India they suspected that the rigors of a twenty-hour flight, coupled with the heat, had left her severely dehydrated.1 A couple of days of intravenous fluids should make her as good as new.

They became increasingly alarmed, however, the following day. Her temperature spiked to 102, pulse raced at nearly 100 beats a minute, and breathing became labored. Blood tests revealed an abnormally high white blood cell count. That prompted a new diagnosis: systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Although her physicians could not identify an underlying infection, they thought it likely that her body’s extreme immune response had somehow poisoned her own blood. They administered intravenous antibiotics to prevent irreversible organ damage.

There was no improvement. After another thirty-six hours, the doctors ordered more testing to hunt for the culprit they had missed in their initial blood and fluid screens. That test result startled her physicians. The infection was carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE), a typically benign intestinal bacterium that becomes a treacherous supergerm after it enters a patient’s bloodstream or lungs. It then overwhelms the body’s immune system.2

This CRE diagnosis was particularly alarming. Discovered only in 2008 in New Delhi, it had established itself in under a decade as the most lethal supergerm, killing half of the patients it infects.3 The head of the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) described it as a “nightmarish bacteria.” CRE has mutated into newer strains, some of which have enhanced resistance to the class of antibiotics that were traditionally the last line of defense.4

Doctors knew about superbugs for several decades but before the CRE variant most had dismissed their potential threat. No longer does anyone in medicine or pharmaceuticals underestimate supergerms. A series of sobering reports in medical journals laid bare the extent to which they have spread and wreaked havoc.5 In 2010, the first year of reliable U.S. statistics, supergerms infected more than two million Americans and killed 23,000. Three years later the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) issued an alert that the infection rate was accelerating much faster than epidemiologists had forecast. The president of the Infectious Diseases Society of America labeled CRE “an urgent threat” to America’s health care system.6 As bad as the crisis was in the United States, it was far grimmer in many poor countries where superbugs thrive in unsanitary conditions.7

The Nevada doctors understood that hospitals and nursing homes are ground zero for rapacious germs such as CRE. They are the ideal breeding environment for superbugs to infect patients at high risk, those with immune systems weakened by other illnesses or drug therapies. The supergerms also spread easily through breathing machines, IV needles, catheters, even blood pressure cuffs. CRE thrives on everything from light switches, doorknobs, and toilets, as well as the unwashed hands of health care workers.8

The typical five-to-seven-day dose of oral antibiotics usually prescribed for bacterial infections has no effect on CRE. Instead, doctors must overwhelm and eliminate all traces of it with a small class of ultra-powerful antibiotics dispensed through an intravenous drip. The Nevada treating physicians went from concern to alarm when additional tests showed the strain of CRE ravaging her body was resistant to all fourteen antibiotics the hospital stocked.

The state’s senior epidemiologists dispatched a sample of the bug to CDC headquarters in Atlanta. There, scientists watched with dread as further testing demonstrated the Nevada strain was resistant to an additional twelve antibiotics, including some that had never before failed to stop a superbug.9 The Nevada doctors were helpless as their patient deteriorated, went into septic shock, and died two weeks to the day after her ER admission.

Public health officials delayed reporting the death of Patient Zero until January 2017. The news of a superbug resistant to every available antibiotic kicked off sensational tabloid coverage with “end of the world” headlines. The resistant superbug overshadowed another pharma-related story that broke that same month. In January, states had begun reporting their drug overdose statistics for the previous year. They confirmed that America’s multiyear opioid addiction crisis had worsened. Over 63,000 had died in 2016, a 20 percent spike from the previous year, which itself had been a record. More people died of drugs in 2016 than had in car accidents, gun violence, or AIDS during their peak years.10 The state of emergency that two dozen governors had declared seemed to make little difference. Their overdose rates were up by double digits.11 Opioid-based prescription painkillers were involved in two thirds of the deaths.

Addiction did not discriminate between rich and poor, black and white, men and women. It affected big cities—Philadelphia’s medical examiner reported a grim record of thirty-five dead in three days—as well as some of the poorest stretches of Appalachia.

Just before the media was transfixed by Patient Zero and the invincible superbug, The Washington Post had run the final installment of a series on the opioid crisis. It was about Chillicothe, a historic Ohio town of 21,000 nestled along the Scioto River.12 Residents used to call it “Mayberry,” boasting that it was a postcard for the best of small-town American life. Easy access to prescription opioids changed it. A doctor who had run a local pill mill—where painkillers are dispensed for cash without any questions or exams—had been sentenced to four consecutive life sentences for those “patients” who had died from his reckless overprescribing. Chillicothe’s forty drug deaths in 2016 were a record and triple the number of a couple of years earlier.

The city coroner said he dreaded talking “to one more parent who’s lost a child.” Firefighters, EMS workers, doctors, police, hospital workers, victims’ families, all were succumbing to “opiate fatigue.” The coroner had almost quit on a day he described as “the Zombie Apocalypse.” Chillicothe’s police and paramedics had responded to thirteen overdoses. A 911 call from a gas station attendant reported a woman passed out in the driver’s seat of an idling car. When the police arrived, they found an infant girl in the backseat. That child was one of seven under the age of ten handed over that day to Child Welfare.

Chillicothe is part of the collateral damage for an industry that not only created the nation’s most lethal drug crisis but allowed it to flourish mostly unchecked for twenty years. Its origins are in the addictive drugs that 150 years earlier were the core DNA of the pharmaceutical industry. Some of today’s largest drug companies got their start selling then-legal heroin, morphine, cannabis, and cocaine-based medications that returned staggering profits.

Money, however, is only part of the answer. The pharmaceutical industry’s relationship with its federal regulators at the FDA alternates between contentious and too cozy. And for sixty years it has prevailed in a bitter battle over whether laboratory discoveries should be rewarded with exclusive patents and long monopolies. Most important, the drug business has turned America into a medicated society. Successive waves over the decades of so-called wonder drugs, some real and some hyped, have resulted in huge profits while also creating tens of millions of dependent patients waiting for the next pill to solve an ever-expanding range of illnesses and disorders.

Big Pharma likes to portray itself as a quasi-public trust focused on curing illnesses and saving lives. Its profits, while large, come at great cost for research and development. Its critics cast pharma as a veritable evil empire in which money trumps health. Wild conspiracy theories have flourished, that the industry has developed and hidden a cancer cure or pushes autism-causing vaccines, all to make more money.

The truth about today’s pharmaceutical companies and what truly motivates them is found in part through the history of their origins and growth. Understanding how today’s dominant mega-companies developed explains why the creative science that was the industry’s early hallmark is under assault.13 Big Pharma resides at the intersection of public health and free enterprise. Only by knowing its history is it possible to fully appreciate how the battle between noble ambitions and greed is a permanent conflict.






2 THE POISON SQUAD


The American pharmaceutical industry emerged in the mid-nineteenth century in response to an unprecedented surge in demand for antiseptics and painkillers for combat troops. The Mexican-American War that ended in 1848 had taught the United States a painful lesson. Adulterated medications meant that frontline soldiers died needlessly; the failure to treat dysentery, yellow fever, infections, and cholera resulted in 87 percent of the fatalities.1 Many who survived also suffered unnecessarily since the painkillers sent to treat battlefield wounds were often defective. No American company was then capable of large-scale manufacturing of morphine, the era’s most powerful painkiller.

It had only been forty years since a twenty-one-year-old German pharmacist’s apprentice had isolated the morphine alkaloid from the opium poppy. He called it Morpheus, after the Greek god of dreams, but his findings were mostly ignored after he published them in a little-read medical journal.2 It was a decade before a French chemist realized its importance and not until the Roaring Twenties that Heinrich Emanuel Merck sold a standardized dose of morphine at his Engel-Apotheke (Angel Pharmacy) in Darmstadt, Germany. Morphine was inexpensive to produce and it became a key product at several new family-run German companies, including Ernst Christian Friedrich Schering’s eponymously named Berlin company and Friedrich Bayer’s chemical factory in Wuppertal.3

A year after the Mexican-American War, two German American cousins used $2,500 in savings and a $1,000 mortgage to launch Charles Pfizer and Company. It was a chemicals business in a two-story brick building on Brooklyn’s Bartlett Street.4 Their timing was good. Once the Civil War began, Pfizer had trouble keeping up with the demand for morphine.

Pfizer’s competition came from Edward Robinson Squibb, who had opened E. R. Squibb & Sons, a pharmaceutical manufacturing plant, also in Brooklyn. Squibb was personally aware of the importance of quality and consistency in drug production. As a wartime naval surgeon he had personally tossed overboard crates of substandard medications sent to the front.5 A year into the Civil War, pharmacist brothers John and Frank Wyeth opened a Philadelphia pharmacy and drug distributorship. The contract they got to supply medicine to the Union Army was so lucrative that after the war they sold their pharmacy and focused on mass-manufacturing drugs.6

Morphine was the most effective painkiller but not the only one. Dr. Samuel Pearce Duffield, chief of Detroit’s health department, sold an ether and alcohol solution to Union troops. When he retired in 1871, an ex–copper miner turned investor, Hervey Coke Parke, and the company’s twenty-six-year-old salesman, George Solomon Davis, incorporated Parke-Davis.

Eli Lilly, a chemist, missed the opportunity to cash in on the Civil War demand for morphine, but as a Union Army colonel he learned how critical medications were to the war effort. He left the military convinced that his future lay in the eponymously named laboratory that started manufacturing drugs in 1876.7 Two other American pharmacists, Silas Mainville Burroughs and Henry Solomon Wellcome, also saw opportunity in the drug business. Deciding there was less competition in Britain than the U.S., they launched Burroughs Wellcome in London in 1880. It manufactured everything from cod liver oil to malt preparations to face creams to opiate-based pain compounds.8

Those pioneers entered a drug industry in its infancy. The highly addictive nature of their products, coupled with no government oversight and regulation, was good for sales. And they benefited also from the ignorance about what caused illnesses and chronic diseases or how to treat them. It had been only a few decades since French chemist Louis Pasteur had proven with a series of experiments on spoiled meat and sour milk the existence of microbes too small for the human eye to see. The emergence of “germ theory,” that invisible microbes might cause disease, was greeted with considerable skepticism in the nineteenth century. Even if true, scientists did not know how to go about countering bacterial pathogens.

It took until 1882 before a German bacteriologist discovered that microorganisms caused tuberculosis; until then it was considered an inheritable illness.9 In the U.S., cholera was thought to be a disease brought by immigrants, particularly the Irish. (The Immigration Act of 1891 addressed this by requiring a physical exam for all arriving migrants to exclude “all idiots, insane persons, paupers or persons likely to become public charges, [and] persons suffering from a loathsome or dangerous contagious disease.”)10 Before 1900, when an American Army surgeon, Walter Reed, demonstrated that mosquitoes spread yellow fever, it was thought to be passed only by contact with someone infected.11

Until 1900 there was no national medical licensing law; in most states anyone could call themselves a “doctor,” open a practice, and treat patients.12 The lack of basic medical knowledge meant there were few boundaries for promoting a drug. That was the case with the first inexpensive but powerful central nervous system stimulant, cocaine. It had been discovered by a German doctoral student whose chemistry dissertation was about how he had isolated the pure alkaloid from coca leaves. He named the alkaloid cocaine—from the Latin ina, from; it simply means from coca. (That student later went on to develop World War I’s deadliest chemical warfare agent, mustard gas.)13

Merck, one of the first firms to concentrate on cocaine, touted it in products for everything from a numbing anesthetic to a cure for indigestion and hemorrhoids, even as an aid in eye surgery (it reduced bleeding by tightening blood vessels).14 I 15 Cocaine was the officially sanctioned remedy of the United States Hay Fever Association.16 The U.S. surgeon general said cocaine was effective for treating depression. Tobacconists sold cigars laced with 225 mg of cocaine for “soothing nerves,” while dentists peddled cocaine-infused lozenges for toothaches. Asthma sufferers bought inhalants that were pure cocaine and instructed to “use them as needed.”17 A gram of pure cocaine cost on average 25 cents at any druggist.18 The largest mail order catalog of the era, Sears & Roebuck, sold a hypodermic syringe—a Scottish doctor had invented it only a few decades earlier—and a small amount of cocaine for $1.50.19

The boom in cocaine-based remedies meant that over a two-year span Merck went from producing less than a pound of cocaine annually to more than 180,000 pounds a year.20 Parke-Davis chemists patented a refined process that increased the drug’s purity and extended its shelf life. It introduced coca cheroots, coca-leaf cigarettes, and an alcohol-and-cocaine-mixed syrup, all under the motto Medicamenta Vera (True Medicine).21 Squibb manufactured and sold one of the strongest cocaine concentrations dissolved in a clear liquid base and used as a tincture. In less than a decade, cocaine became one of America’s five top selling drugs.

Simply because cocaine had become popular did not mean U.S. pharma companies had lost their enthusiasm for opiates. Merck boasted of the purity of its powdered morphine and one of its most popular drugs was opium-laced cough lozenges.22 Squibb and Pfizer sold nearly a dozen variations of opium tinctures.23

Drug firms such as Merck, Squibb, Pfizer, and others competed against each other. However, their stiffest competition came from so-called patent medicines, some fifty thousand homemade remedies marketed as miracle cures.24 They were not actually patented (the U.S. did not start issuing chemical patents until 1925).25

Since there was no legal requirement that drugs substantiate any purported benefit—like today’s supplement industry or legal cannabis markets, in which claims are unchecked—shameless pitches played on people’s worst fears and ignorance. Compounding the problem was that there were no controls over ingredients, purity, or consistent dosing. While the nostrum makers used American copyright laws to protect their names, shapes of their bottles, and even the label designs, each kept their formulas secret. There was no requirement in the United States for a prescription for any medication. Nor was it necessary to see a doctor to get a drug.26

The best-selling nostrum companies bombarded consumers with a deluge of salacious ads in newspapers and magazines touting phenomenal healing powers.27 Manufacturers secretly paid for breathless testimonials and advertised their “miracle elixirs” and tonics on tens of thousands of roadside billboards, posters strung along country fences, even makeshift yard signs.28

The owners of the most popular patent medicines earned huge personal fortunes. German immigrant William Radam became rich from his proprietary blend dubbed “Microbe Killer,” which he claimed to “Cure ALL Diseases.” The pink liquid was sulfuric acid diluted with red wine and returned a profit of 6,000 percent on each bottle.29 Equally successful was a Quaker abolitionist, Lydia Pinkham, whose remedy of ground herbs and alcohol was made in her cellar kitchen in Lynn, Massachusetts, and marketed as a wonder remedy for women.”30 Dr. Jacob Hostetter’s best-selling home-brewed remedy, “Hostetter’s Celebrated Stomach Bitters,” took advantage of the false but widespread belief that whiskey killed bacteria.31 It was a market vegetable extract in 94-proof whiskey that promised a thorough detox as well as protection or cure against dozens of illnesses.32 A Connecticut street peddler and former Texas farm hand used fire eaters and sharpshooter contests at traveling road shows to sell tens of thousands of “Indian Sagwa” to “purify the blood.” It was moonshine mixed with common garden herbs for flavoring.33

Parents were particularly susceptible to nostrum pitches since 20 percent of all children did not survive to age five.34 The company behind the top selling “Kopp’s Baby Friend—the King of Baby Soothers”—checked daily newspapers for birth announcements and sent free samples to new mothers. Its secret formula was a solution of one-third pure opium, and over time it was responsible for dozens of lethal infant overdoses.35

Most pharmacists and doctors denigrated patent elixirs as the province of snake oil salesmen and traveling medicine shows. Trade publications such as Druggists’ Circular exposed some of the most dangerous remedies. However, with a tiny circulation to medical professionals, those publications did nothing to slow the demand of enthusiastic lay consumers.36 And despite the widespread scorn of many physicians and druggists, the money to be made was too tempting to a few who stocked top selling nostrums and marked up the price.37 Crowded and filthy slums that were by-products of fast-growing cities in the late nineteenth century had become breeding grounds for a succession of epidemics, from smallpox, tuberculosis, typhus, and yellow fever to cholera. Each resulted in a deluge of profitable new nostrums, all promising instant cures.

In 1890, members of the American Pharmaceutical Association published the first United States Pharmacopeia and the National Formulary (USP/NF). Advances in chemical testing and machine manufacturing had made it possible for American pharmaceutical firms to produce drugs of improved purity and generally reliable quality.38 The USP/NF was a somewhat rudimentary list of about two hundred “ethical pharmaceuticals” intended to be the gold standard for doctors and pharmacists.39 II 40 The list was an easy guide for those wanting to avoid useless nostrums.41

Traditional pharmaceutical companies looked with disdain on their patent competitors. Still, the general lack of knowledge about the medicines they sold meant that ethical drugs could also sometimes be disasters. There was no better example than Heroin, a trademarked drug developed by Germany’s Bayer. In 1898, the same Bayer research team credited with isolating salicylic acid (trademarked as Aspirin) added two acetyl groups to the morphine molecule and produced an opiate ten times as powerful. Bayer’s director of pharmacology insisted the company not select “too complicated a name” so it chose the German heroisch, or “heroic.”42 Heroin went on sale in America in 1900 and was immediately listed on the USP/NF. Anyone over the age of eighteen could buy it. Bayer claimed it was much better at alleviating pain than morphine. It was ten times more effective for the relief of coughs and colds than codeine, contended Bayer, with only a tenth of codeine’s toxic side effects.43 The company also promoted it for treating epilepsy, stomach cancer, multiple sclerosis, asthma, and schizophrenia. Bayer’s advertisements claimed it safe for children. It even sold it as a fast cure for morphine addiction, which by then was becoming a problem.44

Some states that had passed laws to cover adulterated foods also addressed drugs, but only with generic provisions that barred nostrum makers from selling lethal poisons.45 The result was a hodgepodge of rules that were confusing, sometimes contradictory, and seldom enforced. It was impossible to address the booming interstate traffic without a federal law. Through the 1890s, Congress failed to pass a series of regulatory bills to empower federal oversight of both food and drugs.46 The driving force behind the movement for a national law was a chemist and physician, Harvey Washington Wiley. He was the head of the Department of Agriculture’s Division of Chemistry (a predecessor agency to the Food and Drug Administration).47 Politicians and industry lobbyists mostly ignored his zealous appeals to address the unreported dangers of adulterated food. They dismissed him as an inexperienced idealist and felt he was a powerless bureaucrat in an obscure government agency.

Wiley had, however, often been underestimated by others and repeatedly defied expectations. He was the deeply religious son of a self-educated Indiana farmer, Preston Wiley, who was also an evangelical preacher for a revivalist nineteenth-century Christian sect. The senior Wiley was the headmaster at the tiny town’s single-room school.48 His mother, Lucinda, worked the farm and tended to her seven children, all of whom she had given birth to on the dirt floor of the family’s two-room log cabin (they had no running water, heater, or working toilet).49 Second-generation Americans of Irish and Scottish ancestry, his parents worked long days on farmland outside Kent, a town of several hundred poor whites along the Kentucky border. It was a bare-bones, tough existence that had pushed many of Wiley’s neighbors to the edge of desperation.50

Wiley grew up in a household where corporal punishment was meted out with a wooden rod for indulging in “devices of the devil,” such as playing with other kids, singing, dancing, or celebrating holidays.51 His parents expected him to take over the family farm when he turned eighteen. Instead, he surprised them by passing his college exams and even earning a scholarship. At twenty-six he received his medical degree and graduated near the top of his class at Indiana Medical College. When he moved east to study chemistry at Harvard he was captivated by the emerging science about diet and nutrition and a related study of safety concerns regarding food additives and preservatives.52 In an era before refrigeration, as more food was shipped long distances from processing plants, producers constantly tested new preservatives. The food industry hired chemists to extend the transport and shelf life of perishable goods and to find chemicals that removed unpleasant odors and enhanced the color of food (red lead for beef, lead chromate for mustard, arsenic for green vegetables). Few scientists were studying the possible dangers in the new methods.53

Wiley had a reputation as a smart advocate for pure food. In a series of articles for Popular Science Monthly he highlighted potential risks in the U.S. food chain.54 When he became the chief at the Division of Chemistry in 1883, the department had only six employees and a paltry budget of $40,000.55 It seemed an unlikely place from which to launch a successful campaign for a pure food law or to wield influence to tame the unregulated pharma industry.

What the Division of Chemistry lacked in manpower and money, Wiley made up for with a talent for generating public attention for his campaign. He promoted his agenda in articles and testimony before congressional committees. Wiley traveled the country to dozens of women’s clubs and social organizations delivering fiery speeches warning about the dangers of adulterated food.56 At those events, Wiley seemed more an itinerant preacher than a scientist. The politicians and lobbyists who had dismissed him when he arrived in D.C. realized that his dramatic flair was a good complement to the quest of what he called “extensive and exhaustive investigations of adulterations and misbranding of foods.”57

It was four years before Wiley and the Division of Chemistry published the first volume of a series of reports titled “Foods and Food Adulterants.” The initial one focused on health risks to the nation’s dairy products.58 Half the milk samples tested had been thinned with water and chalk and were swarming with bacteria. Much of the butter sold contained no dairy at all. Over the next five years, Wiley and his small team of chemists issued nine more reports.59 Among their findings was that nearly 90 percent of all ground coffee was adulterated, usually cut with sawdust and even dirt. “Embalmed beef” was sold in tin cans, made in part from lead, and infused with so many powerful preservative chemicals that it smelled like formaldehyde. There was a fury when children died in Nebraska and Indiana of contaminated milk. Some dairies used formaldehyde to mask the odor of sour milk and had sold it to orphanages.60

Wiley’s reports—the first intensive federal investigation into potential health risks in the food supply—were a milestone. Flattering press coverage added to his reputation as an incorruptible champion for the common good.61 The Washington Times was typical: “When he took up the gauntlet thrown down by a crowd of greedy parasites who were making huge fortunes by selling to the public foods not what they seemed, he determined to quash their nefarious practices.”62 The media attention cemented Wiley’s public persona as “the pure food man,” a lone government crusader arrayed against vast and powerful special interests intent on putting profits above safety.63 He realized his popularity presented an opportunity to expand his influence. During his tenure, the secretary of agriculture upgraded his division to a bureau, a designation that imbued it with more autonomy. It grew from six to more than six hundred employees and its budget increased twenty-fold. The newly christened Bureau of Chemistry had its own building by 1902, and Wiley ran it as his personal fiefdom.64

That same year he convinced Congress to appropriate $5,000 to study potential health risks in common food preservatives and dyes.65 Determined that the results would not get buried into some little-read official report that gathered dust on the back shelves of his Bureau of Chemistry, he planned a showstopper of a study. Relying on what he cited as inspiration from the biblical book of Daniel, Wiley decided to experiment not on animals but on humans.66 He created a twelve-man “Hygienic Table Trial.” Its volunteers, including a scientist, a former high school captain of a cadet regiment, and a Yale sprinter, were either employees from the Bureau of Chemistry or Georgetown Medical College students attracted by free room and board.67 Before Wiley approved each, staffers screened them for good moral character, little or no alcohol use, and abstinence from medicines. “I wanted young, robust fellows, with maximum resistance to deleterious effects of adulterated food,” he later noted.68 The recruits promised to stay at least a year and waived all rights to sue the government if the trial proved harmful or deadly.

Wiley built a kitchen and dining room in the Bureau of Chemistry’s basement. He bought all the food and drinks and served three meals daily for the twelve volunteers, all of whom dressed in formal attire for dinner. A chef, who boasted he had been the personal cook for the queen of Bavaria, prepared meals that included steadily increasing doses of preservatives and coloring agents that Wiley suspected as toxic.69

Wiley recorded the temperature and pulse of every man before each meal. He regularly checked their weight and collected urine and stool samples. He allowed some journalists from popular newspapers and magazines to observe the experiment. The ensuing coverage was sensational: “Young men of perfect physique and health” who were “martyrs of science,” willingly ate potentially deadly food served by “a bespectacled scientist.” The volunteers adopted the motto, “Only the Brave Dare Eat This Fare.” A Washington Post reporter gave the project a name that stuck: The Poison Squad.70 The element of danger totally captivated the public. Wiley worried that the popular frenzy might predispose the scientific community to dismiss the seriousness of his tests.

The Poison Squad, however, was far more than a hit turn-of-the-century reality show. The startling results over several years confirmed Wiley’s worst fears about hidden dangers in America’s food supply. Intensifying ailments afflicted his volunteers.71 Preservatives such as borax and salicylic acid caused headaches and digestive problems. Formaldehyde that prolonged the life of dairy products caused weight loss, insomnia, and scarred kidneys. Benzoate caused severe heartburn and damaged blood vessels. Copper sulfate that enhanced the color of canned vegetables caused vomiting and liver damage.72 Sulfites, the by-products of many preservatives used in wine, molasses, and cured meats, made the volunteers sick with dizziness and splitting headaches. Starting in 1904, Wiley released the first of five reports titled “Influence of Food Preservatives and Artificial Colors on Digestion and Health.” In total, it was a damning one-thousand-page indictment.73

Wiley began winding down his audacious public spectacle in 1905 following the death of a weakened volunteer from tuberculosis. By then, however, the Poison Squad had earned an almost mythic place in American medical history. And Wiley knew it had reenergized his quest for a federal pure food law.

I. Many prominent public figures—Sigmund Freud, Pope Leo XIII, Robert Louis Stevenson, Queen Victoria, to name a few—waxed enthusiastic about the energy and fleeting euphoria cocaine produced. Its recreational use surged in the second half of the nineteenth century.

II. The term “ethical pharmaceuticals” made them sound as if they were more trustworthy medications than nostrums. The term later came to mean those not advertised to the public, a concept the American Medical Association pushed since it considered that ads directed to the public encouraged self-treatment and threatened the authority of doctors. Although there was no requirement yet for drug prescriptions, the AMA hoped that patients might seek the advice of physicians for selecting the right ethical drug.






3 ENTER THE FEDS


Entrenched and well-connected food industry lobbyists did not sit idly while Wiley built his case for federal intervention. The most powerful ones represented canners, who relied on preservatives, and the profitable so-called rectified whiskey trade, in which distillers added coloring and flavor agents to cheap, impure alcohol and sold it as whiskey. Wiley had made rectifiers his number one target, charging that 90 percent of the country’s whiskey was fake. Lobbyists argued that everything they added to liquor was harmless and that any federal regulation would be anti-American, decimate business, and force thousands out of work. Wiley, they argued, had no real-world experience in administering food laws and had cherry-picked evidence to draw inflammatory and misleading conclusions.1 They also contended that Congress did not intend drinks and liquor to be covered by a law addressing food.

Wiley realized that Congress was unlikely to embrace any proposal that was too hard on the rectifiers. Between half to two thirds of all federal income came from a tax on alcohol; even fake whiskey makers paid it.2

Some consumer advocates were disappointed that the federal oversight and regulatory law Wiley envisioned was almost entirely about food and failed to address the dangers of pharmaceuticals. In fact, while he had assigned a small number of researchers in his Bureau of Chemistry to collect evidence of “advertising of fraudulent [patent] remedies,” he favored excluding all patent drugs from any statute.3 The one proposal he supported was more symbolic than substantive, an ambiguous provision to more efficiently inspect the two hundred or so USP/NF drugs.4

His reluctance surprised colleagues, some of whom knew that Wiley privately condemned patent medications as “the most vicious of the whole circus of medical frauds… which preyed on incurables.”5 A few friends knew about a childhood incident that helped form Wiley’s opinion of nostrums. He fell ill with malaria when he was eleven, the result of a mosquito infestation in the southern Indiana lowlands. The Wileys were too poor to afford Abram’s Pill, a proprietary “miracle cure” that promised “instant remedy” for malaria’s high fever and bone-rattling chills. It turned out the Wileys were fortunate. Some neighbors died not from malaria but instead from Abram’s Pill. Years later Wiley discovered the cure’s main ingredient was arsenic.6

Why was he unwilling to take the lead when it came to a public health issue that matched so well with his expertise and interest in medicine and chemistry? The answer is in Wiley’s personal letters and papers: his cold political calculus was that championing drug regulation reduced the chances of convincing Congress to pass a straightforward pure food law. Wiley thought he lacked the political capital to tackle two powerful lobbies simultaneously. He feared that adding drug oversight into the mix would be too complicated and doom any proposed legislation.7

However, in 1905, the year he started dismantling the Poison Squad, Wiley abruptly reversed himself. Collier’s had begun publishing a blistering ten-part exposé of the dangers of bogus patent medications hawked as cure-all elixirs.8 The opening paragraph of the first article set the tone: “Gullible America will spend this year some seventy-five million dollars in purchasing patent medicines. In consideration of this sum it will swallow huge quantities of alcohol, an appalling amount of opiates and narcotics, a wide assortment of varied drugs ranging from powerful and dangerous heart depressants to insidious liver stimulants; and far in excess of all other ingredients, undiluted fraud.”9

The Collier’s series sparked a fury over patent drugs. It shamed the American Medical Association to stop accepting nostrum advertisements in its journal, JAMA. It had been running lucrative patent drug ads while ostensibly debating the ethics of doing so.10 In the wake of the Collier’s publication it tried playing catch-up by reprinting the investigative series as an inexpensive booklet and distributing half a million copies.11

Wiley saw an unexpected opportunity in the great hue and cry. More than a dozen pure food bills had stalled in five previous Congresses. Maybe, he calculated, if he included drugs as part of any proposed law, the outrage over nostrums might help break the political stalemate. Politicians knew the Collier’s series had struck a public nerve. Failure to act might provoke a voter backlash.12

To the distress of the nostrum makers, Wiley soon suggested the name of the proposed statute be changed from the Pure Food Act to the Pure Food and Drug Act.13

That proposal thrilled health advocates. By 1905, as Wiley drafted the bill that would be submitted to Congress, a plentiful and cheap supply of unregulated Heroin and cocaine had resulted in what he called the “tragic numbers”: an estimated addiction rate as high as 2 percent of the population, upward of 1.5 million addicts.14

In one draft of the law, Wiley defined drugs as “any substance intended to be used for the cure, mitigation, or prevention of disease.”15 That was broad enough to encompass both USP/NF and patent drugs. He also proposed that patent remedies disclose all ingredients on their labels. As for any that included cocaine or alcohol—both of which he personally thought more dangerous than Heroin or opium—they should be dispensed only with a doctor’s prescription.16

Those revisions sent a chill through the drug industry. At the turn of the century it was not a business dominated by a handful of mega-companies. Instead, there were hundreds of firms, ranging from established ones to many questionable operations that thrived selling nostrums. All disliked the idea of federal oversight. Conventional pharma firms hoped any statute might only go so far as to eliminate patent quackery. The influential Proprietary Medicine Manufacturers and Dealers Association of America, a consortium mostly of wealthy patent medicine businessmen, feared the law would target them.17 Many of them had never made a nostrum but were naturally gifted promoters who wanted no restrictions on how they marketed their products to consumers.18

One strategy to fight the proposed law was to make Wiley himself the issue, casting him as a well-intentioned chemist who had exceeded his expertise and knowledge. There was a little-known counter-narrative to Wiley’s selfless do-gooder image. The same considerable ambition that made it possible for him to attract a wide public following had spawned many bitter enemies.19 Would Congress reject his statute if he was marked as someone who had cunningly manipulated his interests in food purity only to satisfy a lust for personal fame? The Proprietary Association knew Wiley had hired press agents to bolster his reputation for tirelessly battling corrupt businessmen to expose fraudulent labeling and fake products.20 It also had uncovered evidence that he might have sometimes used his bureau’s growing influence to benefit a handful of companies he favored.21

After a heated debate, however, the Proprietary Association decided Wiley was personally off limits. There was not enough evidence to make the case against him as a power-obsessed chameleon. The consensus was that going after him was too risky.

The Proprietary Association’s final strategy was simple but inspired. Under the guise of public safety, it focused on deflecting the spotlight away from all patent drugs to only a handful of the most dangerous homemade nostrums.22 Industries that had become dependent on patent remedies for revenue liked the idea that only a few outlier drugs were the problem. Dispensing physicians and pharmacists as well as wholesale suppliers of the ingredients joined the effort. Both the National Associations of Wholesale and Retail Druggists soon came aboard.23

The biggest indirect beneficiaries were the newspapers in which patent drugmakers advertised.24 At the turn of the century, patent remedies brought in $50 million annually to more than four thousand papers.25 It was half of all the income for newspapers, money that Wiley dubbed “blood money.”26 The newspapers dispatched a small army of lobbyists with the same message to Washington: don’t damage a good industry because of the bad actions of a few. All the while, the Proprietary Association reminded congressional leaders of the federal 4 percent tax on the retail price of all patent drugs; any legislation that led to a reduction in the number of drugs sold would also reduce what had become a steady source of government revenue.27

The lobbying effort was relentless. Wiley rewrote the draft repeatedly to drum up congressional support. At times, he confided to a friend, he was so worried that lobbyists might kill the bill that he often knelt inside the closet of his office and prayed.28

Once the bill got to congressional committees, drug lobbyists redoubled their efforts. It was not long before most of the key revisions benefited the pharma industry. One amendment eliminated the requirement for prescriptions for cocaine and alcohol-based drugs.29 Another diluted the language to punish drugmakers by freeing them of any responsibility so long as they could demonstrate their promotional claims were “made in good faith.” Wiley had wanted a listing of all ingredients on every label but another change required they only had to show any of sixty “poisons.” That was weakened further to require revealing just eleven ingredients deemed addictive or dangerous, including cocaine, opiates such as morphine, opium, and Heroin, alcohol, chloroform, and cannabis.30 Even those judged “poisonous” were required only if they exceeded an arbitrary legal minimum.31 Wiley fretted that allowing those drugs to be used without notice and at any dosage threatened to “simply make the bill a joke.”32

The acrimonious debate continued for months. In early June, on the heels of the Collier’s series, Wiley got some unexpected help in persuading last-minute holdouts in Congress. A socialist weekly ran a serialization of Upton Sinclair’s novel The Jungle.33 Sinclair wrote about the plight of poor immigrant workers in the U.S. He hoped his book might spark a revolt against capitalism. “The ‘Uncle Tom’s Cabin’ of wage slavery!” wrote his friend and fellow socialist Jack London. “What ‘Uncle Tom’s Cabin’ did for black slaves, ‘The Jungle’ has a large chance to do for the wage slaves of today.”34 Sinclair’s political message was overshadowed, however, by the novel’s fifteen stomach-wrenching pages about filthy conditions in Chicago’s stockyards and meatpacking industry.35 A revolted public read of putrefied meat deliberately mislabeled and sold. Worse was the disclosure that ground meat sometimes contained poisoned rats or dismembered body parts from accidents among the assembly line workers.36 The outrage that followed that serialization compelled Congress to cobble together and approve the Meat Inspection Act. The Pure Food and Drug Act, informally known as the “Wiley Act,” passed with it.37 President Theodore Roosevelt signed both into law on June 30, 1906.38

The thrust of the new law, hailed as a milestone in consumer safety legislation, was “truth in labeling.” That seemed straightforward since food and drug companies were not previously required to list any ingredients. And the landmark legislation put in place some long-overdue and commonsense regulations against misbranded and adulterated foods and drugs.39

The widespread enthusiasm might have been tempered if it had been known how the pharma lobby had weakened the provisions that applied to the drug industry. While the Pure Food and Drug Act appeared to deliver radical reform, it lacked the substance to enforce its hyperbolic promise. There were critical exceptions to universal truth in labeling. “The bill is not as good as we should like it,” Wiley privately admitted to one colleague.40 A last-minute amendment even permitted the sales of USP/NF medications that failed to meet the quality, strength, and purity claims on their labels.41 Patent drug makers did not have to disclose any ingredients they did not tout in their marketing. The law’s most devastating omission was its failure to address the fantastic but improbable therapeutic claims of nostrums. Wiley and other consumer advocates hoped the courts might liberally interpret the law’s ban on “false labeling” to apply to unproven healing and curative claims. In United States v. Johnson in 1911, the Supreme Court dashed that by ruling that the bar on dishonest labeling did not cover therapeutic claims (the court upheld the right of a physician to sell six alcohol and herbal remedies as a cure for cancer).42 I 43

America’s most popular patented medicines made minor changes to their labels and then trumpeted their compliance with the new law. Vin Mariani, a top selling nostrum marketed for maintaining “overall good health, energy and vitality,” was typical. It was a French Bordeaux with 7.2 mg of pure cocaine per ounce. Vin Mariani, a favorite of Pope Leo XIII, claimed to have “over 7,000 written endorsements from prominent physicians in Europe and America.” In the wake of the Pure Food and Drug Act it listed cocaine on its label but made no changes about the remedy’s unproven curative powers.44 Hundreds of other nostrum makers who featured cocaine or opium as primary ingredients did the same. Some even boasted that they reduced the concentration of opiates or alcohol in their nostrums, but those cuts were mostly negligible.45 A few narrowed the breadth of what they promised. Hazeltine & Co. changed the tagline for its popular Piso’s syrup—a solution of alcohol, cannabis, and chloroform—from “Cure for Consumption” to the more generic “Remedy for Coughs and Colds.”46

Within a year of the law’s passage, most nostrum makers included on their label, “Guaranteed under the Pure Food and Drug Act.”47 They hoped the public would conclude that tagline meant the drugs were not dangerous.48

Although both the nostrum industry and traditional pharma had won many concessions in the law, it still empowered the Bureau of Chemistry with exclusive enforcement powers. Some wondered whether Wiley would push the limits of the law and tie up pharma firms in litigation. They did not know that Wiley had decided to concentrate on “battles attracting the attention of the whole nation.” He wanted to target companies with which every American was familiar. Fortunately for pharma firms, none were that prominent. Although Bayer was a household name in Germany, it had not achieved that status yet in America. As a result, Wiley showed no interest in tackling its Heroin brand. A popular drug manual published by Squibb noted in 1903 that “Heroin has lost none of its prominence” and cited a small study in which it had demonstrated “decided advantages” in treating bronchial infections and without a “tendency to form a Heroin habit.”49 (It took sixteen years before the government required a prescription for Heroin and another decade before it placed restrictions on its sale. By then the country had added an additional quarter million addicts.) Wiley did not even open an investigation when Bayer announced its discovery of a new class of drugs, barbiturates. Potent and addictive sedatives, its first product, phenobarbital, went on sale under the brand name Luminal in 1908 without prescription.50

Moody’s, the financial rating firm, reaffirmed to Wiley that he was right in judging the drug business too insignificant to generate daily headlines. When Moody’s started publishing industry analyses in the U.S. in 1909, pharmaceuticals was so small it was not listed as a separate category. It took another twenty years before Moody’s created one, ranking drug firms as the sixteenth most profitable American industry. There were hundreds of small companies vying for a piece of the nascent trade, none with more than 3 percent of the market.

Only 135 of the first 1,000 enforcement actions under the Pure Food and Drug Act were against drugmakers.51 Most involved technical labeling infractions resulting in fines of less than $50.52

Wiley did bring some landmark actions. They involved corn syrup, saccharin, benzoate of soda, aluminum baking powders, and a multiyear battle over rectified versus pure whiskey53 II 54 He declared caffeine public enemy #1 and made Coca-Cola his highest-profile target. As Wiley correctly forecast, his campaign demonizing caffeine—which he claimed was more dangerous than strychnine—galvanized public attention. It was front-page news when he charged that Coca-Cola was a public health hazard that violated the law since it did not list caffeine as an ingredient. Wiley’s “literal-mindedness about labels” was evident when he contended the company duped consumers by calling itself Coca-Cola despite having no cocaine—it had been removed entirely in 1904—and only a trace of cola.55

Wiley’s animus against caffeine was sincere. His fundamentalist Christian parents had raised him to believe it was “a devil’s stimulant.”III 56 He was convinced caffeine caused mental defects and motor deficits as serious as alcohol and that it was “habit-forming and nerve-racking.” Damning caffeine as “the most common drug in the country,” he warned that “coffee drunkenness is a commoner failing than the whiskey habit.… This country is full of tea and coffee drunkards.” He warned Congress that caffeine was toxic and in public speeches sounded the alarm: “I would not give my child coffee or tea any more than I would give him poison.”57

With Wiley focused an caffeine, Congress acted on its own regard in 1909. It passed the first ever federal drug prohibition statute, the Opium Exclusion Act.58 That targeted a smokable variety of opium favored by Chinese immigrants, whom Senate majority leader Henry Cabot Lodge had described as “uncivilized elements in America.” The law did not address the opium used in patent medicines or traditional pharma drugs.59 Its unintended consequence was that Chinese criminal gangs took control of the opium trade in San Francisco’s and Los Angeles’s Chinatowns, resulting in higher prices and a jump in crime.60 Meanwhile, the American public interpreted the passivity of Harvey Wiley, who was admired for his zealous crusading, as evidence that drugs for sale had somehow passed safety and efficacy criteria under the Pure Food and Drug Act.

The Coca-Cola trial, United States v. Forty Barrels and Twenty Kegs of Coca Cola, in 1911, was the culmination of Wiley’s career.61 Prosecutors held the trial in Chattanooga, where Coca-Cola had a large bottling plant. The government’s case cast Coca-Cola as a dangerous, addictive drink. Its caffeine stimulation was so well known, testified a Department of Agriculture chemist, that many consumers called it by the nicknames “coke” or “dope.”62 (Coca-Cola did not take a trademark on Coke until 1942.) In its defense, Coca-Cola called a series of leading chemists and research scientists who contended that the government had overstated the danger of caffeine, and in any case, the amount of caffeine in the soda was only a third of what was in an equivalent cup of coffee or tea.

Three weeks into the trial, Coca-Cola made a motion to dismiss the case. It argued that since caffeine had replaced coca-leaf extract in the soda recipe a year before the enactment of the Pure Food and Drug Act, it was not an added ingredient that qualified as an “adulterant or additive.” Therefore the law did not apply. The trial judge stunned Wiley and the Justice Department by agreeing with Coca-Cola and dismissed the government’s case.63 It was a body blow the Supreme Court ultimately upheld.

Wiley’s Bureau of Chemistry had committed enormous resources to the prosecution. By casting himself as the public face of the government’s case he had put his reputation at risk. An internal federal investigation revealed that Wiley had so badly wanted to win that he had engineered an annual consulting arrangement for $1,600 with a Columbia professor who was the government’s star trial expert about the evils of caffeine. Without that deal, the professor had been reluctant to agree to testify since the government paid its experts only $9 a day. Although Wiley had broken no laws with the consulting work-around, and his bosses had approved it, it looked bad after the case had imploded.64

After twenty-nine years at the Bureau of Chemistry, the combative and toxic environment had worn Wiley down. He resigned in 1912 and accepted a job at Good Housekeeping magazine for $10,000, double his government salary. As their director of foods, sanitation, and health, he still wielded influence with his monthly column about nutrition and food safety that reached 400,000 subscribers. The magazine built a modern testing lab for Wiley and initiated the Good Housekeeping Seal of Approval for products.65

Although Wiley had justifiably earned a place in history as the father of the Pure Food and Drug Act, he had little to boast about when it came to drugs. Business boomed for the traditional USP/NF medications. Worse was that sales of nostrums soared by 60 percent in a decade, for the first time crossing $100 million annually.66 When Wiley later wrote his memoir, his failures were evident by his omissions. In 325 pages he attacked private lobbyists and government bureaucrats for diluting his landmark statute. He regaled his readers with insider details about his battles against saccharin manufacturers and whiskey rectifiers. He even re-litigated the Coca-Cola case. In Wiley’s recounting of history, he was always right but somehow the government had repeatedly failed to do what was right.67 But he never mentioned cocaine or heroin and only referred to patent drugs a single time—to claim that internal power struggles at the Bureau of Agriculture had “made it impossible to bring any cases.”68

As Wiley stepped off the national stage, there was no doubt that pharma had emerged intact from the country’s first landmark legislative effort at drug oversight. Its successful lobbying campaign had eviscerated much of the Pure Food and Drug Act. It would serve as a template for pharma battles with the government in the decades ahead.

I. Dr. A. O. Johnson of Kansas City marketed Dr. Johnson’s Mild Combination Treatment for Cancer. Every sale included a 125-page book of questionable testimonials from “cured patients.” Congress addressed this statutory shortcoming in 1912, but the drug lobby weakened the final language to ban therapeutic claims that were “false and fraudulent.” That meant enforcement actions had to establish “intent to defraud,” a standard that proved nearly impossible as drug companies claimed they believed the claims to be accurate.

II. Wiley’s Boy Scout image was sullied years later when it was disclosed that he had not only accepted favors and gifts from some food industry giants, but that they influenced his decisions about whether to bring enforcement actions. A sugar industry lobbying group employed his nephew in a sweetheart deal. He only moved against benzoate of soda after his benefactors at H. J. Heinz stopped using it; critics said he had conspired with Heinz to allow them to capture the catsup market. In one instance, he even testified in an adulterated coffee case on behalf of a businessman who had doled out favors to him and some of his family.

III. Prohibition of caffeine remains a tenet for some Christian denominations. The Mormon-owned Brigham University finally yielded in September 2017 to appeals by non-Mormon students and permitted the sale of caffeinated soda.






4 THE WONDER DRUG


The federal government did put an end to patent medicines. It was not, however, the result of new laws or enforcement directed at nostrums. Instead the patent industry was decimated as the indirect result of historic legislation that outlawed its core ingredients, narcotics and alcohol. The first blow was the 1914 Harrison Narcotics Tax Act. The second was the Eighteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution five years later that kicked off thirteen years of alcohol prohibition.1

The Harrison Act was Congress’s response to worldwide fears about skyrocketing demand for opiate-based painkillers. World War I had caused a seismic shift inside the pharmaceutical industry. The outbreak of hostilities in Europe in July 1914 led to the suspension of the International Opium Convention treaty, a sweeping anti-narcotics agreement signed a couple of years earlier by a dozen countries at The Hague.2 Knowing that war was good for business and free of government regulation, drug firms ratcheted morphine production to record levels. Some, like Britain’s Whiffen & Sons, doubled their annual output to twenty tons, much of it leaking to the black market. Overproduction in Swiss, Dutch, and German pharmaceutical companies also fed illegal syndicates.

Congress passed the Harrison Act only six months after the war started. It prohibited most distribution and use of cocaine as well as much of the importation of opiates. Bayer’s lobbying, however, earned Heroin an exemption. The law created a national registry to track every person and company that dealt in opiate- or cocaine-based drugs. The AMA and other medical groups successfully petitioned to exclude physicians and hospitals that dispensed narcotic painkillers, so long as the drugs were not given to addicts (before the Supreme Court struck down that provision a decade later, 25,000 doctors were charged with violating the narcotics ban and 3,000 went to jail).3

The law sanctioned one class of opiate manufacturer and distributor: pharmaceutical companies. The only authorized purveyors were the manufacturers of drugs listed on the USP/NF. It was criminal for anyone else to import, make, or sell the same drugs.4 The drafters of the Harrison Act mistakenly thought that making narcotics legal under the exclusive control of the medical/pharma industries would reduce the country’s huge hunger for narcotics.

The underlying problem was the appetite pharmaceutical firms had developed for the staggering profits from their highly addictive products. It was an international malaise. When opiate production declined after World War I, drug companies turned to cocaine. French pharma firms conspired to divert their cocaine overproduction to drug traffickers for enormous profits. In Switzerland, one of the few countries to have opposed all drug treaties, a postwar report concluded the country’s pharmaceutical industry had produced “100 times more [cocaine] than was required for [domestic] medical and scientific purposes.” Anyone who simply attested to being a physician could buy ten kilos of cocaine from Swiss drug firms. Compounding the problem was that Switzerland was the only nation without any drug export controls. In Germany, Bayer, Merck, and competitors such as Hoechst AG had trouble keeping up with demand for cheap kilos of 99 percent pure cocaine.5

The situation was little different in the United States where narcotics provided upward of half all pharmaceutical profits. Barred by the Harrison Act from competing with the sanctioned pharma companies, and forbidden by Prohibition to use alcohol, most nostrum makers had finally given up. Philadelphia-based Smith, Kline and French, one of the most successful mail order companies, abandoned 5,800 of its 6,000 medications. It had enough left in its Eskay line of baby nutrition and food products to survive.6 Meanwhile, for traditional drug companies, sales had increased since the demise of the patent remedy industry.

Press reports of addiction and overdoses with Heroin had spurred some companies to search for a less addictive substitute. In 1916, two German chemists had discovered Oxycodone, a synthetic opioid that was chemically similar to Heroin. They thought it was a “gentler codeine.”7 Four years later, two different German researchers developed hydrocodone, a semisynthetic opiate derived from codeine. The scientists believed both drugs matched Heroin’s therapeutic benefits without the downside of addiction.

It was difficult, though, to wean the industry off its narcotics reliance since there were few other types of drugs to drive the market. “You could count the basic medications on the fingers of your two hands,” noted a later president of Merck.8 Most pharma companies were simply manufacturers who depended on research and discoveries in academic labs to find and license products.9

The pharma companies knew the drugs they sold cured virtually no disease. Although the public bought them for everything from smallpox to typhoid to diphtheria, the medications at best reduced symptoms and eased pain. Sales mattered more than cures to most pharma companies.10 The most promising new drug category measured by revenues was barbiturates. Discovered in 1903 by Bayer, it had nothing to do with treating an illness but was marketed as “a new class of hypnotics” to provide relief for insomnia, anxiety, nerves, and depression. Overnight barbiturates replaced bromides, a cruder and more primitive class of patent drug sedatives.11 Bayer released its most powerful version, phenobarbital, in 1912 (the press nicknamed it a “downer” because it made people drowsy).12 Millions of patients flocked to barbiturates, all sold without prescription.

American companies that did not have their own branded barbiturate concentrated on getting their other medications listed on the USP/NF. Consumers believed the USP/NF drugs had the best quality control.13 That allowed Merck, Lilly, Squibb, Pfizer, and others to charge several times more than the identical formula from small, family-run compounding pharmacies. When Bayer’s copyright on Aspirin expired, the company’s legal effort failed to stop others from manufacturing and selling it. So, Bayer’s slogan became “Genuine Bayer Aspirin,” and it sold for double the price of generic aspirin.14 The same was true with Parke-Davis’s Adrenalin, a compound of pure adrenaline it had patented. The company won a lawsuit in which a federal appeals court ruled that because of the similarity between the name of Parke-Davis’s drug and the body’s natural hormone, all other U.S. drug companies could only market their adrenaline medications as epinephrine. That ruling allowed Parke-Davis to charge triple the price of its competitors.15

A grim example of the downside of pharma’s overall lack of innovation came during the deadly influenza epidemic of 1918. Called the Spanish Flu since Spanish newspapers were the only ones in Europe that ran stories about it, it infected half a billion people, about a third of the world’s population. By some estimates it killed 100 million over a brutal sixteen weeks. In comparison, the fourteenth-century bubonic plague had wiped out a quarter of the planet over ten years.16 Pharma companies had nothing to slow or treat the pandemic. It stopped only after the lethal microbe had run its course.

The Spanish Flu spurred academic and private researchers to redouble their efforts to find treatments for contagious infections and illnesses. By this time, bacteriologists realized that the trillions of self-sufficient, single cell microbes, including those that make up about 70 percent of every human, are friendly. Or at the very least they had evolved to coexist with people.

What researchers did not yet know was that microbes, especially the predatory ones that cause disease, are the ultimate examples of Charles Darwin’s survival of the fittest theory. Bacteria metamorphose incredibly fast to better replicate, sometimes in ways that rival science fiction. The germ responsible for tuberculosis, for instance, dies in about twenty-one days unless it can infect a new host. In many early cases, the TB germ attacked a patient’s kidneys, lymph nodes, and sometimes even the skin. Over time that pathogen mutated so as to target the lungs. That resulted in a persistent cough and converted TB into an airborne pathogen that was easily spread in crowded cities. The same is true of other deadly bacteria. Rabies germs evolved to attack the part of the brain that controlled aggressive biting, making it more likely than an infected animal would try to pass it to other animals or humans by biting them. The microbes behind the Black Plague, Yersinia pestis, originally infected only rats but transformed over time so that fleas on those rats became the carriers to humans. It later morphed again so that humans who developed plague pneumonia spread the infection. When Lyme disease passed slowly from rats and deer, the infectious microbe evolved to infect ticks that fed on those animals. The ticks passed it much faster to people.17

Some pathogens lay dormant after an infection and then much later reappear as a different illness. Children infected by the chicken pox germ recover usually in a couple of weeks. The virus, however, hides in nerve cells along the spine and brain and often remerges decades later as shingles.18

The researchers made little headway on fighting infectious diseases. The hit drugs that came from the labs had nothing to do with eliminating pathogenic bacteria. A Los Angeles pharmacologist and chemist, Gordon Alles, was searching for an improved decongestant when he isolated the stimulant amphetamine sulfate.19 He teamed with Smith Kline, who already marketed a cotton strip soaked in a slightly unstable liquid and sold it as a decongestant inhaler.20 Smith Kline bought Alles’s patent rights in exchange for a 5 percent royalty. The company’s inhaler was wildly popular; 10 million sold in the first five years. And it was the first to market pure amphetamine pills, branded as Benzedrine Sulfate (bennies in street slang).

The most significant medical breakthrough was a treatment for diabetes, a deadly physiological condition. A team of University of Toronto researchers announced their discovery of insulin in 1922. The Indianapolis-based family who owned Eli Lilly won the exclusive right to develop and market insulin to diabetics in North and South America. The following year Lilly got a patent on its process to collect and extract large quantities pure enough for clinical distribution. The insulin market grew exponentially over a couple of decades.21

It was a second revolutionary drug discovery, however, that upended the pharmaceutical business. Penicillin might have remained undiscovered had it not been for some good luck in a science lab in 1928. A Scottish microbiologist, Alexander Fleming, returned from his summer vacation and noticed something unusual. His research involved growing bacteria and observing its behavior under different conditions. Along the edges of a stack of petri dishes he had left to be washed were colonies of staph bacteria. During his absence, a blue-green mold had grown on the plates. What caught his attention, though, was that staph bacteria near the mold on the plates had disappeared.22 As a doctor at a British Army Hospital in northern France during World War I, Fleming had learned firsthand that bacteria were often as deadly as enemy shelling. He wondered whether some of the discharge from the mold had stopped the bacteria from growing.

Tests on his “mold juice” isolated it to a rare strain of the penicillium family.23 Further tests were promising, demonstrating the mold killed a wide range of common microorganisms.24 Fleming and his assistants could not, however, isolate a pure alkaloid from the chemically unstable mold juice. When Fleming wrote about his discovery in a 1929 scientific paper, he anglicized the Latin penicillium to penicillin, and he downplayed hope for possible therapeutic benefits. Penicillin went mostly unnoticed.25

A few other researchers also tried and failed to extract a pure alkaloid.26 It took seven years before a team from Oxford’s School of Pathology in 1936 chanced on Fleming’s paper and restarted experiments. The previous year a German chemist had discovered Prontosil, a brick-red dye whose active ingredient was sulfonamide. That sulfa drug, and others that followed, were the first capable of combating streptococcal infections.I 27 Sulfa medications piqued the interest of the Oxford team to investigate the mold that Fleming had described as being lethal to dangerous microorganisms.28

Howard Florey, a Rhodes Scholar and Australian pathology professor, ran the Oxford lab. He assigned to the penicillin project a brilliant twenty-nine-year-old chemist, Ernst Chain, who had emigrated from Berlin in 1933. Chain’s family were devout Jews and he had left Germany “because I felt disgusted with the Nazi gang.… I did not believe that the system would last more than six months at the most.”29 Initially, Chain, a self-described “temperamental Continental,” seemed an odd fit with the small lab’s more reserved Oxford- and Cambridge-trained researchers.30 With his bushy black hair, thick mustache, and rumpled clothes, he seemed at times to relish his outsider status. Although his colleagues thought he was argumentative and brusque, they came to respect his considerable biomedical skills. In less than a year, Chain singlehandedly developed a process for extracting and purifying tiny amounts of penicillin.31 It was twenty times more powerful in destroying colonies of bacteria than anything they had previously tested.

It took another four years, until 1940, before trials demonstrated penicillin shielded mice from deadly streptococci bacteria.32 Still, the Oxford researchers worried that anything capable of so thoroughly obliterating bacteria might harm humans though it had not proven toxic to mice. The following January, Florey invited Charles Fletcher, a young doctor from Oxford’s Radcliffe Infirmary, to meet his team. Florey asked Fletcher to “find a patient with some inevitably fatal disorder who might be willing to help.”33

Fletcher recalled there “were no ethical committees in those days that had to be consulted, so I looked around the wards and found a pleasant 50-year-old woman with disseminated breast cancer who had not long to live.”34 She agreed to the experiment after Fletcher told her it was for a “new medication that could be of value to many people.” That unnamed woman was the first of several terminally ill patients who volunteered over several weeks. Oral and rectal administration proved useless since tests revealed those procedures did not get enough penicillin into the blood. A stomach tube tried on another patient showed some promise. But doctors found the greatest concentration of the drug after an intravenous injection.

Fletcher hoped to next test penicillin’s curative powers on a person seriously ill, but not at death’s door as were the first group of patients. Fletcher found a forty-three-year-old British policeman in the hospital’s septic ward. He had scratched his face while pruning roses and the scratches had become infected. His face and arms were covered with abscesses. He had excruciating infections in his bones and was coughing up pus from lung cavities. Doctors had already removed his infected left eye. “There was all to gain for him in a trial of penicillin,” recalled Fletcher, “and nothing to lose.”35

On February 12, 1941, Fletcher started the treatment, 300 mg every three hours through an IV drip. In just a day the policeman felt better. By the fourth day “there was a striking improvement,” and by the fifth he had made a miraculous recovery. His temperature was normal, he was eating regular meals, and the abscesses on his face, scalp, and arms were almost gone.36 The problem was that the lab—still struggling with developing an efficient means of extracting purified penicillin—ran out of the drug. Florey watched in frustration as the bacteria roared back. The policeman died a few weeks later.

“We then decided to avoid using large amounts of the precious penicillin by concentrating on children and localized infections,” recalled Fletcher. Five more patients, four of them children, were treated over the next few months. The serious bacterial infections cleared from each. There were few side effects and it did not have the toxicity associated with sulfa drugs.37 Florey and his team realized by then that the drug might be one of the most important medical discoveries ever.38

By the time the Oxford team realized that penicillin was a momentous breakthrough, England had been at war with Nazi Germany for nearly two years. The constraints of a wartime budget left little money for an ambitious rollout of what many politicians considered an experimental drug. Even if Florey roused political support, war had consumed Britain’s chemical industry. It had no spare capacity to produce the new drug. Florey’s Oxford team continued its research on a tiny budget and with improvised equipment. Against the backdrop of what many expected to be an imminent Nazi land invasion of Britain, they prepared to destroy their lab and research files if the Germans arrived. Each of them rubbed some of the brown penicillin spores into their clothing; if one managed to evade capture by the Nazis, those spores would remain untraceable yet could be recovered years later.39

Chain tried to convince Florey to patent penicillin; at least it might bring in royalties to pay for more research. Florey asked the advice of two of Britain’s leading authorities, Sir Edward Mellanby, director of the Medical Research Council, and Sir Henry Dale, a Nobel Laureate. Both were aghast at the idea of a patent, although their German, French, Swiss, and American counterparts did so regularly. Chain knew there had been little advancement on Prontosil, the sulfa drug discovered by Bayer. A German patent court had ruled its active ingredient—sulfanilamide—was in the public domain since it had been discovered and used in the dye industry in 1908. Some firms had figured out molecular modification to produce sulfanilamide derivatives, so-called me-too drugs.40 Those chemical cousins qualified for patent protection.41

When Sirs Mellanby and Dale met with Chain, they were not moved by his impassioned argument. It was unseemly commercialization, they told him. If he persisted, they warned, it might not only scuttle his career but reflect badly on his fellow Jewish refugees.42

Forced to look for money abroad, Florey successfully lobbied for funding from the American-based Rockefeller Foundation, where he had had a fellowship a decade earlier.43 Florey and one of his key researchers, Norman Heatley, planned a trip to the U.S. hoping the government and American pharmaceutical firms might help figure how to increase the yields of pure penicillin.

The day before departing for the States, Florey told Chain he was not included. Chain, shocked, thought it was an “underhand trick and act of bad faith.”44 He argued that the penicillin project had always been a “joint venture” only between him and Florey, and he cited reasons why he believed that Heatley had played a “very minor part.” Florey refused to change his mind.

In the summer of 1941, Florey and Heatley were in Peoria, Illinois, where the Department of Agriculture had its Northern Regional Lab specializing in fermentation.45 Heatley opted to stay there and work on increasing the yields while Florey lobbied U.S. pharma companies to commit resources to the project.

Over several weeks, the Peoria lab made progress. Substituting lactose for the sucrose used by the Oxford team produced significantly better yields. The Peoria lab next found that adding corn steep liquor during fermentation increased the results tenfold. Enhancements made to penicillin precursors again upped the yield. Still, it was a fraction of what was needed for the war. In late summer the Peoria researchers tried growing penicillin submerged in huge tanks. The Oxford strain still produced only small traces of the drug. So the Peoria lab launched an international search for a penicillium strain that might produce better yields. Soon, soil samples and produce with mold from around the world arrived at the small government lab. To the surprise of the researchers, the most productive strain came from the mold of an overripe cantaloupe a local housewife found at a Peoria fruit stand less than a mile from the lab. The Carnegie Institution used X-rays to create a modified and more powerful version of the cantaloupe strain. A team at the University of Wisconsin used ultraviolet radiation to boost its productivity even further.46

While Heatley and the American researchers in Peoria worked to mass-produce the drug, Florey was making little headway in his efforts to interest American pharmaceutical companies in the penicillin project. He knew that independent of the Oxford experiments, Merck, Eli Lilly, and Squibb had shown sporadic interest in the drug.47 Florey’s expectations were particularly high since he had enlisted the help of an old acquaintance, Alfred Newton Richards, a respected University of Pennsylvania pharmacology professor. Richards was chairman of the Committee on Medical Research, an influential branch of the Office of Scientific Research and Development (OSRD). Franklin Roosevelt had created the OSRD only a couple of months earlier (June 1941), and tasked it with prioritizing scientific and medical efforts needed to bolster national defense. If the OSRD deemed a project critical to the war effort—as it did with the atomic bomb—it could provide massive research and development funding. Civilian scientists served as key OSRD directors and Roosevelt cited national security to empower it to bypass most of the bureaucratic obstacles and contract directly with both universities and private industry.48 Once Florey had persuaded Richards that penicillin was a breakthrough, Richards personally lobbied the drug firms.

Getting involved in penicillin would serve the national interest, Richards told senior management at each company. They were hesitant though to make any commitment. They had heard widespread tales of the difficulty in achieving significant yields with the existing fermentation methods. And they were concerned about whether the penicillin project would be subject to the regulations of the federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act that had passed three years earlier, the first significant legislation about the drug industry since Harvey Wiley’s 1906 Pure Food and Drug Act.49 II 50 In fact, variations of the final law had been stuck in Congress for five years before a lethal drug disaster shamed Congress into acting (just as it had taken Upton Sinclair’s stomach-wrenching The Jungle to get the 1906 law passed).51 One hundred and seven people, mostly children, had died from Elixir Sulfanilamide, a sulfa-based cough syrup mixed with a chemical used in antifreeze and brake fluids to give it a sweetish flavor.52 There was fury when the Tennessee-based patent drug maker maintained “we violated no law” since there was no legal requirement to test drugs for safety before selling them. The company was found guilty only on a minor violation: it marketed its lethal syrup as an elixir and by law elixirs had to contain alcohol; its did not.53

The new law was Congress’s reactive effort to put a premium on safety regulations in medicine (medical devices and cosmetics joined drugs now under FDA oversight). New drugs had to be submitted to the FDA and demonstrated as safe before they could be sold to the public. Another key provision was that the burden of proof to demonstrate safety shifted from the government to the drug company. It established the first ever rudimentary animal and human clinical testing for toxicity. Package inserts with dosing information and warnings about possible dangers had to be sent to pharmacists. The new law required all drug manufacturers to register with the FDA, which was now empowered to inspect factories and to recall medicines judged dangerous at the pharma company’s expense.54 That same year Congress also passed the Wheeler-Lea Act. It gave limited power to curb deceptive and false drug advertisements to the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), the government’s agency created in 1914 for consumer protection and civil antitrust enforcement.55

American pharma companies detested any regulation. They had always operated in an industry built on the inviolable right of consumers to self-medicate.56 What had them in a fury, though, was when the FDA issued operating regulations that proposed that some drugs deemed too dangerous should be prescription only since no warning label would be adequate.57 It was the FDA’s feeble attempt to rein in the explosive growth of barbiturates and amphetamines. There was ample evidence by the time of the 1938 law that both drugs were addictive and deadly in large doses. The law did not cover them since they were on sale before it was enacted. The FDA’s effort failed. It managed to only mandate prescriptions for narcotic-based medication and powerful sulfa drugs.58

What about penicillin? The American pharma firms asked to help develop the drug worried what might happen if they were successful. Would penicillin be subject to a warning label by the FDA? Would it demonstrate some toxicity if developed and distributed widely, thereby becoming prescription only? The companies were particularly concerned because the FDA had managed to require prescriptions for sulfa meds. Those were antibacterials and marketed for some of the same infections that penicillin might target.59 No drug company wanted to commit major resources to an experimental medication when the FDA might later try limiting its commercial use. Alfred Newton Richards tried inducing pharma to join the project by agreeing to put penicillin and all the related research for it outside the reach of the 1938 law.60

At an October 1941 meeting in Washington organized by Richards, although the drug chiefs were no longer worried about obstacles from the FDA, they were still ambivalent about making any commitment. Most looked to George Wilhelm Merck to take the lead.61 Merck wielded great influence, even with his bitterest competitors. He had a widespread reputation as a pioneer who put research and drug innovation ahead of short-term profits.62 When he opened the Merck Institute for Therapeutic Research in 1933, in the middle of the Great Depression, it was the industry’s first research lab. It attracted some of the country’s top academic chemists and pharmacologists.63 They produced breakthroughs in antibiotics, hormones, sulfas, and vitamins (the discovery of B12 as an effective therapy for pernicious anemia accounted for 10 percent of Merck’s sales in the mid-1930s).64 Other companies followed; Lilly opened a research lab in 1934 and Abbott and Squibb christened theirs in 1938.

Given Merck’s emphasis on drug innovation, Florey and his Oxford colleagues expected him to be their ally when it came to penicillin. They made the case that penicillin held the promise of fighting often lethal bacterial infections, including chicken pox, mumps, meningitis, rheumatic fever, pneumonia, and syphilis. The greatest cause of death for mothers was from infections following childbirth. Complications from simple contagions like tonsillitis were particularly deadly for children younger than ten. Fatalities from blood poisoning and gangrene, resulting often from a minor wound, accounted for about half of the 10 million soldiers who died in World War I.

Richards had warned Florey that Merck was “pessimistic” about penicillin.65 He thought that was because Merck had little financial incentive to chase an experimental antibacterial. It was one of the first U.S. firms to obtain a license from Bayer to sell Prontosil, a sulfa drug targeted to fight pneumonia. Sales were strong.66 What Florey and his team did not know was that Merck’s company had little proficiency in fermentation, the part of the penicillin process that had stymied researchers. No one outside the company knew Merck’s efforts to synthesize penicillin had gone poorly.67

At the October 1941 meeting, Merck surprised Florey. “We won’t do it,” he insisted.68

Everything changed two months later on December 7, when the Japanese launched a surprise attack on the American naval fleet at Pearl Harbor. Richards organized another meeting between Florey and a cross section of U.S. government scientists and pharma chiefs. They met in Manhattan ten days after Pearl Harbor. America had by then declared war on Japan and Germany. How many lives on the battlefield might be saved by penicillin was no longer a matter of idle speculation for the American drug executives. George Merck had overcome his reluctance. He surprised those at the meeting by announcing that if the yields reported by the Peoria lab could be replicated consistently, the American pharmaceutical industry would commit to a crash program.69 One government official there thought that Merck’s reversal marked the moment “a new pharmaceutical industry was born.”70

To encourage their collaboration the government announced that the penicillin project was exempt from antitrust laws.71 Merck and Squibb agreed to share all their research and to own equal shares in any patents and inventions from the work. Pfizer joined the following year after it resolved concerns that penicillin spores might contaminate the citric acid that was the backbone of its business.72 Lilly, Abbott, Upjohn, and Parke-Davis soon entered their own information-sharing agreements.73 The War Production Board enlisted the help of the U.S. Department of Agriculture and a broad cross section of government scientists.74 The Office of Scientific Research and Development used public funds to sign fifty-six contracts with universities and research hospitals for penicillin-related studies.75 Florey returned to Oxford while Heatley joined the team at Merck and worked with a noted chemist, Max Tishler (Tishler was also directing research on a synthetic hormone derived from the adrenal gland, cortisone).76 The American drug firms discovered that the low yields that had frustrated the British researchers was a problem not easily solved.

It took until March 1942 to manufacture enough penicillin to treat the first American patient. Anne Miller, the thirty-three-year-old wife of Yale’s athletic director, was in a New Haven hospital in critical condition from blood poisoning after a miscarriage. Such bacterial infections were especially lethal for young mothers. Every treatment her doctors tried—powerful sulfa drugs, blood transfusions, rattlesnake venom, even surgery—had failed.77 A hospital physician was friends with Howard Florey, who had told him about the secret experimental antibiotic. Florey put him in touch with Max Tishler. Merck’s team crashed around the clock for three days to purify 5.5 grams—a teaspoonful—of pure penicillin powder. It was half the entire stock in the U.S.78 They rushed it by plane to Miller.79 By the time the drug arrived, Miller was slipping in and out of consciousness. Her fever had spiked to 107. No one had any idea of what the correct dosage might be, so the physicians diluted a gram into her intravenous solution. Her astounding turnaround is recorded in her hospital chart (now a permanent part of the Smithsonian Museum). Miller’s temperature was normal the following morning for the first time in a month, she was no longer delirious, and in less than a day she ate her first meal in a month. Her blood tested negative for bacteria only twenty-four hours after the first injection.80 Miller’s miraculous recovery was not only big news inside Merck, but it encouraged other U.S. pharmaceutical firms to redouble their efforts to find the best industrial process for mass-producing penicillin.81

Because of its potential military value, the penicillin work under way at the pharma companies was a national secret. That changed inadvertently that November following the deadliest nightclub fire in American history. Nearly five hundred died at Boston’s Cocoanut Grove and hundreds were terribly burned. The federal government covertly asked for Merck’s help. Tishler’s lab worked around the clock. The best they could produce on such short notice was a diluted liquid containing some concentrated penicillin. What Merck sent to Massachusetts General was not of the clinical purity used to treat Anne Miller. Still its anti-infective qualities helped dozens of victims successfully fight the infections from their burns.82

By the time of the Cocoanut Grove fire, both the American and British governments had declared penicillin production a national security priority. In 1943, the War Production Board had two all-consuming priorities, developing an atomic bomb and mass producing penicillin.83 The government knew that making it on an industrial scale required enormous federal resources and a collaboration of pharma firms with agricultural and chemical companies that specialized in fermentation. One hundred and seventy-five companies were evaluated. Seventeen made the final cut, including Merck, Squibb, Pfizer, Abbott, Eli Lilly, Lederle, Parke-Davis, and Upjohn. Once on board they learned that while making penicillin was their top mission, the government wanted them also to focus on developing antimalarials to slash the death rate for American troops fighting the Japanese in the Far East.84 III 85 There was also ongoing research for a new group of corticosteroids, originally fueled by false reports that the Nazis were using them to enable “super pilots” to fly at altitudes over forty thousand feet. When that research did not pan out, the Air Force bought millions of Smith Kline’s Benzedrine pills and distributed them to bomber and fighter pilots. The Army stocked up on barbiturates, which were widely dispensed to sedate wounded soldiers, alleviate pain, and offset shock and anxiety in the battlefield.86 (All the frenetic projects on corticosteroids and developing antimalarials led to unintended advances in immune globulins to fight infections and blood substitutes.)87

The government recruited researchers from thirty-six universities and hospitals.88 It also approved and paid for six huge new penicillin manufacturing plants. The pharma firms, meanwhile, got tax incentives on all investments to retrofit their factories to maximize penicillin production. Lilly, for instance, reconfigured a plant used to produce two-quart milk bottles into penicillin manufacturing, complete with a three-thousand-gallon fermentation tank. Pfizer turned a former ice factory into a fermentation plant. Sensing the potential in penicillin, the previous year Pfizer had reincorporated in Delaware and went public with 240,000 shares of common stock.89

The results were dramatic. In the first five months of 1943, the government project produced 400 million units of penicillin, only enough to treat 180 severely sick soldiers. In the last seven months of the year, as the pharma firms got far more proficient, production increased 500 percent to more than 20 billion units. By D-Day, June 6, 1944, the joint effort churned out 100 billion units monthly, enough to treat 40,000 troops. By the end of the war in Europe, May 1945, American companies were producing a stunning 650 billion units monthly.90

I. Sulfa drugs stop bacterial infections by interfering with their metabolism. Antibiotics such as penicillin are more effective as they destroy the bacteria. The chemist who isolated the first sulfa drug, Gerhard Domagk, worked for the Bayer pharmaceutical subdivision of Germany’s I. G. Farben conglomerate. When Domagk was awarded in 1939 the Nobel Prize in Medicine, Hitler—angry that a previous Nobel Peace Prize had gone to a German pacifist—barred Domagk from accepting the award. The Gestapo arrested Domagk and briefly jailed him because he had been “too polite” in the letter he had sent refusing the award.

II. The 1938 statute also created limited powers for the FDA to certify food colorings as “harmless.” Foods would be considered adulterated if they contained a coloring agent not approved by the government. While the 1938 law was the most sweeping legislation about drugs since the turn of the century, there had been a series of limited-scope laws during the 1930s that did reduce some of the remaining patent medicine abuse of opiates, cocaine, and marijuana. In 1937, marijuana was put under federal control with the Marihuana Tax Act.

III. As part of the frenzied research effort to perfect a drug to combat malaria, the Army-controlled Malaria Research Project conducted human experiments at four prisons, with the largest at Stateville Penitentiary outside Chicago. Prisoners were offered reduced sentences, cash stipends, and extra amenities for agreeing to be infected with malaria and then treated with experimental drugs. The prisoners were encouraged to keep meticulous notes. University of Chicago researchers selected 200 men, from 487 volunteers, for two years of testing at the prison hospital. The trial drugs had toxic side effects that sickened many and resulted in one death. In 1947, defense attorneys for Nazi doctors charged with war crimes for human experimentation at concentration camps cited the malaria experiments in a failed effort for an acquittal.






5 “COULD YOU PATENT THE SUN?”


Three months after the end of the war in the Pacific, in December 1945, Alexander Fleming, Howard Florey, and Ernst Chain won the Nobel Prize in Medicine for their roles in the discovery of penicillin. Few outside the British medical research community knew that by then the three men had fallen out over mutual recriminations about which of them deserved most of the acclaim. By the time the Nobel was awarded, King George VI had knighted Fleming and the Australian Florey had been given a Knight’s Bachelor. Chain recalled that during the frenzied wartime research at Oxford, he felt as if “Florey’s behavior to me… was unpardonably bad.”1 Except for exchanging a few letters, Florey and Chain never spoke after the Nobel. Meanwhile, Florey stopped talking to Fleming after the British press had lavished the lion’s share of credit for the drug on the Scottish researcher. Florey thought Fleming, who alone received honorary doctorates and medical association awards for penicillin, had not tried to correct the record.2 As for Norman Heatley, who had been a key member of the Oxford team, being left out of the Nobel was the ultimate slight (it took fifty years before Oxford acknowledged his role by bestowing the first honorary Doctor of Medicine degree in its eight-hundred-year history, and today the penicillin researchers’ original lab is the Heatley Laboratory).3 I 4

Many in the Oxford team had expected that since the British and American governments had provided the funding, most of the revenue that came from sales would go to public research for other significant drugs.5 Some money, it was expected, might even find its way to the financially strapped academic research departments that had done the critical work when drug companies were uninterested. But pharma had no intention to share the spoils. The government had not insisted on any conditions to the tsunami of money it had doled out during the war. George Merck’s view was typical of other CEOs: they might not have discovered penicillin, but without the ingenuity and capability of American pharmaceutical firms, the Oxford team would have still been conducting failed lab experiments to increase the yield. The companies deserved every dollar of profit, he contended. There was so much money to be made in penicillin with a surging worldwide demand that none of the pharma chiefs complained at the end of the war when Congress passed a law transferring quality control for the drug’s production from the military to the FDA.6

The ways in which American pharma firms exploited penicillin after the war were the envy of foreign competitors. The British medical luminaries who had scolded Chain as “money-grubbing” when he had raised the patent question were incensed after the war when a U.S. government microbiologist, Andrew Moyer, acquired a U.K. patent for his method of manufacturing penicillin. Moyer was an anti-British isolationist who had worked with Oxford’s Heatley at the Peoria lab and made his time there hellish. Chain’s wartime prediction—without a patent that Britain would have to pay royalties to use the drug—came true.II 7 Sir Henry Harris, who had worked with Florey, said: “It is often said in the press here that they got the penicillin out at Oxford and the Americans pinched it.”8 In the U.S., Merck, Pfizer, Squibb, and others aggressively pursued “process patents” that protected unique methods for synthesizing, extracting, purifying, or manufacturing a drug. Eleven American pharma firms that manufactured penicillin after the war owned a remarkable 250 such patents.9

British pharmaceutical firms, meanwhile, were infuriated that the American government sponsorship of a British invention had given a handful of U.S. firms a critical several years’ head start on a blockbuster drug. Pfizer had concentrated on penicillin to the exclusion of other drugs in its pipeline. That paid off handsomely after the war since it was responsible for nearly half of the world’s production. Squibb had doubled in size by becoming the only firm that manufactured, packaged, and sold penicillin directly to hospitals and pharmacists.

At the start of World War II, German pharmaceutical firms accounted for 43 percent of all drug sales.10 After the war, as German industry struggled to recover, American pharma firms, fueled by their dominance in antibiotics, took the top spot, with nearly half the world market. In the U.S., fifteen firms selected by the War Production Board had 80 percent of all drug sales and a stunning 90 percent of profits.11 Even sixty years later (2005), the top ten American pharmaceutical companies traced their rise to their selection for the wartime penicillin program.

The unprecedented federal role in penicillin also had an unintentional consequence for a handful of companies. The U.S. Department of Agriculture had acquired thirty-two key patents on fermentation methods.12 The government’s priority was producing a lot of penicillin, not making money. So, the USDA licensed those patents free of charge to companies interested in making the drug. The pharma firms had been granted a national security exemption from antitrust laws to encourage sharing their research with one another. When they developed mass fermentation for penicillin, it was a departure from the low-yield, synthetic chemistry that had defined the industry. Before World War II, no drug firm had imagined there could have been such a tremendous worldwide demand for any single medicine, much less that it could be mass-produced on an unprecedented scale. The influx of millions in direct federal subsidies changed everything. Drug companies expanded and retrofitted their plants with the large costly equipment required for commercial-scale production. Thirty-foot-tall steel tanks held penicillin mold, while submerged fermenters sterilized it, and enormous vats aerated the cultures at volumes exceeding ten thousand gallons to ready the drug for clinical use. In total, the pharma firms spent $23 million to build sixteen state-of-the-art antibiotics plants. Due to a special accelerated amortization provision, they recovered half their investments with savings on federal income tax. The government also sold to the drug companies—at less than half their investments—the six state-of-the-art penicillin production plants it had built at taxpayer expense during the war.13

Although penicillin had remade the industry, pharma companies were already looking for new and better drugs. That is because penicillin is a narrow-spectrum antibiotic, meaning that it is effective only against a limited range of bacteria (so-called Gram-positive).14 While it was successful against many deadly illnesses, it failed to work against a long list of often lethal Gram-negative bacterial infections, such as tuberculosis, typhoid, cholera, meningitis, salmonella, and certain pneumonias. The postwar Holy Grail for American pharma was to find a broad-spectrum drug, one that treated illnesses caused both by Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria.

That turned out to be streptomycin.15 It was discovered as a microbe in a farmyard soil sample in 1943 by Selman Waksman, a Rutgers University soil microbiologist, and a PhD graduate student, Albert Schatz.16 Waksman, who coined “antibiotic” the previous year to refer to chemicals taken from microorganisms that destroyed bacteria, was searching for a tuberculosis cure.17 The lethal airborne pathogen dubbed the “Great White Plague” had killed an estimated two billion people in the preceding two centuries. Neither Waksman nor Schatz was medically qualified or licensed to do animal experiments. Waksman figured that since dangerous bacteria do not survive in soil, there were undoubtedly countless undiscovered microbes in dirt that killed bacteria. Since many of those antibiotic-producing organisms might also be toxic to humans, Waksman needed to conduct clinical tests. He used Merck’s much better equipped laboratory only fourteen miles from Rutgers to extract enough of his drug to study at the Mayo Clinic. Those tests demonstrated that streptomycin might be the long-awaited first broad-spectrum antibiotic.18

The Office of Scientific Research and Development used its extraordinary wartime powers to classify it along with penicillin as a national security medication. That opened the federal money pipeline, fueling a crash research and development program. Three quarters of the drug’s production in 1945 and 1946 went to the armed forces, and the remainder was set aside for drug trials at the National Research Council, which coordinated technological and scientific research between the military, private research laboratories, and universities.

Merck’s contract with Waksman gave the company exclusive rights to any drug produced from his research. That meant Merck would have monopoly control of streptomycin once the government freed the drug for commercial sales.

As the war progressed, streptomycin was the only medication under development that had a chance of combating biological weapons—anthrax, yellow fever, or bubonic plague—that many feared the Japanese and Germans were developing. Besides his role on the National Research Council, George Merck was the chief of a secret civilian agency, the War Research Service. It was responsible for developing the American stockpile of bioweapons (Merck was later given the nation’s highest civilian award, the Medal for Merit, for his wartime service).19 Waksman appealed to George Merck, contending that no single company should have sole control of streptomycin as it was too important a public health discovery (The New York Times listed the streptomycin patent as “one of ten that shaped the world”).20 Merck agreed. In August 1944, he canceled the exclusive arrangement. The drug’s rights returned to Rutgers.21

When the government lifted its controls on streptomycin at the end of 1946, eleven American pharma companies, including Merck, Squibb, Lilly, and Pfizer, began manufacturing and selling it. The early enthusiasm that it might eliminate tuberculosis had ebbed as it had proven capable only of controlling, not eradicating, the disease. However, clinical trials had demonstrated it was effective against meningitis, typhoid, and lung and bloodstream infections.22 Streptomycin also tested as far less toxic than the sulfa drugs.23

Merck’s attorneys, meanwhile, in early 1945, had filed an application for a patent in the names of the two Rutgers scientists, Waksman and Schatz. Until then, courts and the Patent Office had ruled that “products of nature” were in the public domain. The Patent Office had raised that prohibition when the streptomycin application arrived.24 And while the application was pending, the Supreme Court issued a 7–2 decision denying the request of a company to patent a bacterial inoculant. The majority’s decision seemed conclusive: “[P]atents cannot issue for the discovery of the phenomena of nature. The qualities of these bacteria, like the heat of the sun, electricity, or the qualities of metals, are part of the storehouse of knowledge of all men. They are manifestations of the laws of nature, free to all men and reserved exclusively to none.”25

There was a small but vocal minority of American medical researchers who thought it was immoral for any firm to profit from a drug developed from nature. They contended that medications needed to stop fatal infections or crippling diseases should be royalty free. The best example of this noble view was the polio vaccine that stopped a disease that had previously left tens of thousands of children paralyzed annually. Edward R. Murrow asked the vaccine’s inventor, Jonas Salk, who owned the patent. “Well, the people, I would say. There is no patent. Could you patent the sun?”26

It was true, admitted Merck’s attorneys, that if all that was before the Patent Office was a microbe found in farm soil, then the patent should be denied. However, scientists and chemists had reworked that single microbe and had made “streptomycin available in a form which not only has valuable therapeutic properties but also can be produced, distributed, and administered in a therapeutic way.” The unwavering conclusion of the Rutgers scientists? “This antibiotic is not a product of nature.”27

Every pharma company knew that the issuance of a patent would change their industry. Earth is a microbial planet. For several billion years before humans appeared, trillions of microbes too small to see existed in everything from hot springs to Arctic snow, soil, rocks, oceans, air, plants, even on and inside animals. As with streptomycin, many of those microbes might turn into a new wonder drug. It meant that the industry, long mired in manufacturing a mishmash of ointments, plant extracts, and biologicals, all of which only occasionally alleviated symptoms, would have an opportunity to produce a range of drugs that delivered cures for the deadliest diseases. All drug companies embraced this theory.

It took three and half years, until September 21, 1948, for the Patent Office to grant Waksman and Schatz the first ever antibiotic patent, No. 2,449,866, for “streptomycin and process of preparation.”28 Since the two scientists had already assigned their commercial rights to Rutgers, the school was free to license it to drug companies in return for a royalty.29 III 30

At the close of 1948, penicillin and streptomycin accounted for 99.7 percent of all U.S. antibiotic production.31 Furious research had been under way for several years as pharma firms hunted for new broad-spectrum antibiotics they could patent. The industry was about to enter a new era in which a flood of “wonder drugs” would transform the way pharma did business.

I. A similar dispute over credit for insulin plagued the 1923 Nobel Prize in Medicine. It went to only two of the three researchers listed on the original Canadian patent as inventors.

II. Moyer could not profit from the patent developed in Peoria since he was a government employee. However, he sold his foreign rights in the patent to Merck, Squibb, and Commercial Solvent. Because of the outcry, the British government created the National Research Development Corporation to make certain that discoveries and inventions by U.K. academics received patent protection.

III. The Nobel Prize in Medicine in 1952 went to Waksman for the discovery of streptomycin. It highlighted the tremendous rift between its creators about who deserved credit. The U.S. Patent Office listed Waksman and Schatz as equal co-owners. The patent affidavit they had submitted in 1945 listed both as joint discoverers. After the Nobel, however, Waksman dismissed Schatz as a disgruntled former graduate student. Schatz contended that not only was he the one who found the microbe in the throat of a chicken but that Waksman had ignored the discovery for months. Schatz eventually sued Rutgers and Waksman for fraud. It turned out that while Waksman had gotten $350,000 in royalties from the drug’s sales, he had sent a paltry $1,500 to Schatz. The parties settled. Rutgers’s president issued a public statement confirming Schatz was the drug’s co-discoverer, and paid Schatz $125,000 for his foreign patent rights. He got a 3 percent royalty on U.S. streptomycin sales in return for dropping the charges of fraud and duress against Waksman and Rutgers. The Nobel Committee, however, rejected Schatz’s appeal to add his name to the 1952 award. Forty-two years later, Schatz received the Rutgers Medal for his role in discovering streptomycin.






6 AN UNLIKELY TRIO


Post–World War II America was a country with a newfound self-assurance. The Great Depression that ended in 1939 was a distant memory as total victory over Germany and Japan and a booming domestic economy resulted in what Rutgers historian William L. O’Neill dubbed the “American High.” The fifteen-year span that began in 1945 was “our time of greatest confidence.”1 The pharma industry also emerged from war with a renewed sense of self-assurance. Its turn-of-the-century peddling of addictive drugs was long forgotten in the glow of its collaborative wartime penicillin program. The drug business also benefited from a widespread perception that technology and science were on the verge of a historic golden age. Physicist Alvin M. Weinberg later coined “Big Science” to describe the belief that everything from routine space travel to eradicating all disease was possible.2

Inventions and new products would come in a steady stream after the war. Some of the innovations included the microchip, videotape recorder, musical synthesizer, bar code, black box flight recorder, solar cells, optic fiber, supercomputers, and hard disks. A few of the least important inventions had the greatest impact on daily lives. People raved about the household revolution wrought by Teflon-coated cookware and super glue and halogen lamps. Power steering and radial tires added safety to cars while making it easier to drive. Transistor radios meant that broadcast programs and music no longer had to be listened to at home in a radio the size of a piece of furniture. And technology also introduced a way for people to buy the new devices, even if they did not have enough money to afford them: the first ever credit card (1950, Diners Club). And buy they did; in just five years after the war, Americans purchased 22 million cars, 20 million refrigerators, and 6 million stoves.

Medicine also flourished. Within ten years there would be a series of major breakthroughs: the first heart and lung machine; mechanical heart valve; discovery of DNA; open-heart surgery; introduction of a cobalt-ray machine to treat cancerous lung tumors; electric shock to revive a patient; kidney transplant and kidney dialysis equipment; microscopic brain surgery for seizures; ultrasound and coronary angiography; and the cardiac pacemaker.3

All the historic innovation created high expectations for the pharmaceutical industry. Antibiotics had reversed the public’s pre–World War II opinion that drug companies profited with mediocre-at-best medications. A growing number of Americans had survived heart valve and bone infections, meningitis, scarlet fever, and other previously fatal diseases. Combined with plenty of press coverage over the many new in-house drug research departments, many hoped pharma would use science to conquer intractable diseases such as cancer.

C. Everett Koop, decades later Ronald Reagan’s surgeon general, had been the custodian for the distribution of penicillin in Philadelphia when he was a surgical resident at the University of Pennsylvania in the late 1940s. He witnessed how penicillin saved lives: “I never lost the sense of wonder when I saw a youngster’s fever and infection controlled by the antibiotic.”4 In his role as a surgeon he learned that almost all his patients thought that pharmaceutical breakthroughs “appeared to arise from nowhere,” that they were accomplished “with ease.” Although he knew that not to be true, it made Koop keenly aware that the industry’s wartime achievements had created unrealistic public expectations that the pace of drug innovations would continue unabated.

Harry Truman and Dwight Eisenhower did their best to ensure the federal government helped make the pharma narrative a reality. They directed large federal investments into biomedical and drug research, much of it into the National Institutes of Health (NIH).5 When Eisenhower created the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare in 1953 it was the first new cabinet level department in forty years.6 HEW helped consolidate the NIH’s various research agencies.

Although penicillin and streptomycin had made the pharma industry popular with the public, the two drugs were not having a good postwar effect on the firms’ bottom lines. Production of penicillin and streptomycin outpaced demand. Prices had gone into a free fall.7 A penicillin dose that cost $20 in 1944 had plummeted to only 30 cents three years later. Without any patent protection, the companies making and selling penicillin could only differentiate themselves by price. Each undercut the other to land orders. Streptomycin soon followed suit, dropping seventy-fold in price between 1946 and 1950.8

Despite the intense competition, Squibb’s penicillin profit margins were 10 percent better than the average of its four top rivals. That was because it was the only vertically integrated firm, not only manufacturing the drug, but packaging it before selling it to hospitals, clinics, and physicians. Competitors only made it and then relied on packagers and wholesale distributors. Starting in the late 1940s, Pfizer, Merck, Lilly, and Parke-Davis created internal divisions to eliminate the middlemen.

Savvy CEOs knew, however, that changing their corporate structure would not alone boost their bottom line. What was needed were new patentable drugs that fueled big sales at higher prices. That required a two-pronged campaign. First, the firms cooperated in influencing Congress to pass laws that made it easier to obtain patent protection for laboratory discoveries. Next, they invested heavily in research and development as part of the frenzied race to find the next broad-spectrum antibiotic.

Merck hired some of the country’s leading biochemists.9 Pfizer and Lilly battled one another for recruiting noted scientists.10 Pharma analysts predicted that one of the firms that had been at the forefront with penicillin and streptomycin—Merck, Squibb, Pfizer, Eli Lilly, Abbott, Upjohn, and Parke-Davis—would be the first with the next great antibiotic.

Scientists knew, however, that as penicillin had demonstrated, drug discovery sometimes required a bit of luck. History was about to be made at a place to which no one was paying attention. New Jersey–based Lederle was a small company that had been founded in 1906 by a former New York City health commissioner. Incorporated as Lederle Antitoxin Laboratories, it specialized in vaccines and antitoxins.11 Chemical conglomerate American Cyanamid bought Lederle in 1930 and gave it an unusual degree of independence. Lederle had played a small role in the wartime penicillin project, never having made the manufacturing changes required to produce large quantities. Its antitoxin background, however, allowed it to provide the armed forces a quarter of all its blood plasma, a third of the flu vaccine, half of the tetanus inoculations, and half the gas gangrene antitoxin.

Lederle had one of the industry’s smallest and least celebrated research departments. No one there was a Nobel Laureate or distinguished scientist. The company’s researchers did not publish many articles in leading medical and pharma journals. Nor did Lederle have a formal relationship with the National Institutes of Health or any medical facility, such as the Mayo Clinic, by which promising lab discoveries could be tested clinically.

The three men who were ultimately responsible for the next drug breakthrough were quasi-outcasts; one a foreigner barred by U.S. immigration from becoming an American citizen, another judged too old by colleagues, and the third an African American surgeon at a time when the medical profession was nearly all white.

Lederle’s chief of research was an Indian-born physiologist and physician, Yellapragada SubbaRow.12 He was one of seven children from a poor family in Bhimavaram, an eastern Indian city best known as a major Hindu pilgrimage site. At thirteen, SubbaRow ran off to become a banana trader to the visiting pilgrims. His father, a tax collector, brought him home.13 When his father died when SubbaRow was eighteen, he ran away again, this time to become a monk. His mother ordered him back to school, and local charities helped him afford Madras Medical College. But lack of money was always a problem. When he was twenty-four, he wed the fifteen-year-old granddaughter of a respectable merchant as part of an arranged marriage. His father-in-law paid for the last two years of tuition.14

SubbaRow was at school when the movement for Indian independence from Great Britain gained momentum inspired by Gandhi. He refused the British surgical gown given him at school and instead donned one made of a traditional and simple cotton khadi. That act of defiance cost him the college degree necessary to enter the State Medical College. Instead, he joined a local Ayurvedic college as an anatomy lecturer. It was there that an American doctor on a Rockefeller scholarship working on an anti-hookworm campaign encouraged SubbaRow to apply to Harvard’s School of Tropical Medicine.

Harvard considered his Ayurvedic work disqualifying and rejected him. In 1922, he tried again, but then withdrew his application to help his mother and siblings after two brothers died from Tropical Sprue, a rare infectious digestive disease. Not dissuaded, he applied again the following year, emphasizing his anatomy training. Harvard accepted him.15

SubbaRow was twenty-eight when he left behind his wife, pregnant with their first child, and emigrated to the U.S. (his child, a son, died of a bacterial infection before he was one; not only did SubbaRow never see his child, he never again saw his wife).16 He was ineligible for a scholarship because his Indian degree did not meet Harvard’s standards. The same was true when he applied for an internship at Boston hospitals. He finally landed some odd jobs at one.17 Industrious and hardworking, he earned his diploma in Tropical Medicine in 1924 and started on his PhD in biochemistry at Harvard Medical School.

In 1929, he coauthored his first scientific paper about his development of a simple color test to determine the amount of phosphorus in biological tissue.18 The following year he was the first Indian in Harvard history to earn a biochemistry PhD and began working as a teaching fellow at Harvard Medical School. Although it was common for a scientist of his talent to use research assistants and collaborate with peers in the lab, Harvard directed he work alone. Although he made advances in phosphorus compounds connected to RNA synthesis, he was not allowed to publish his results.19 In 1935, he had to disown the extent of his role in the discovery of the color test related to phosphorus, instead giving the credit to his coauthor, who was being considered for promotion to a full Harvard professorship.20

Denied tenure and tired of his second-class status, in May 1940 he accepted an offer to become Lederle’s associate director of research at their lab in Pearl River, New York. When the previous director retired at the end of that year, SubbaRow became the chief.

SubbaRow had joined Lederle just in time to be part of the penicillin project. He was the company’s representative when dealing with the government or other pharma firms. Although the penicillin work left little time in the laboratory, he was the first researcher to synthesize amethopterin, a chemical analog of folic acid. That research was prompted by a study that showed children with leukemia got significantly worse when fed a diet rich in folic acid. Scientists like SubbaRow wondered if an analog that was hostile to folic acid might have the opposite effect. Sidney Farber, a pathologist at Boston’s Children’s Hospital, made a breakthrough with SubbaRow’s analog, developing in a few years the first effective chemotherapy agent.21

In 1942, SubbaRow hired seventy-year-old Benjamin Duggar, a plant physiologist, who had been forced to “retire” by the University of Wisconsin as he was “too old to teach.”22 Other pharma firms had politely turned Duggar away, saying there were no positions or that his specialty was not what they needed. SubbaRow saw experience in what others judged “too old” and he thought that in Duggar he might have found a valuable “antibiotic hunter.”

At Lederle, coworkers came to know the Alabama native as amiable and eccentric. Every day at the lab Duggar slowly but methodically sifted through soil samples looking for antibiotic-producing fungi. At his suggestion, Lederle requested the Army have soldiers returning home bring a small amount of soil from wherever they had served. By 1944, a small shack outside the lab held thousands of samples from more than twenty countries on three continents. Duggar sometimes isolated antibiotic organisms from them. He and SubbaRow carried out tests to see if they had any effect in petri dishes on a broad range of bacterial pathogens.

Some days Duggar stayed away from the soil and instead reverted to the professor he had been for many years. He stopped by the lab but only to give a lecture to his younger colleagues.23 Most evenings Duggar left no later than 5:30 so he could play golf at a country club before it got dark. A chain-smoker, he also spent free time tending to a makeshift garden he created near an abandoned stable. He shared little about his personal life with coworkers.

The fourth of five sons born near the end of Reconstruction, Duggar was raised in a devout Episcopalian household. His father, Reuben Henry Duggar, was a prominent physician.24 No one in the Duggar family talked about the days before the “War of Northern Aggression.” Union troops had seized their large plantation, Frederickton, outside of Macon. His father had served on the state medical board that passed on the fitness of volunteer doctors to serve as Confederate medical officers.

A savant at school, Duggar entered the University of Alabama at fourteen.25 After he graduated from Cornell with a PhD, his father shared with him the only story he ever told about the Civil War. During the last year of fighting, he had served as a surgeon at a field hospital in Talladega, Alabama. Malaria was rampant. Thousands of mosquitoes from adjacent marshlands plagued the camp. Duggar ordered that all fires be built on the camp’s windward side and then be extinguished at dusk. That caused the smoke to blow over the camp, clearing the mosquitoes. That was a couple of decades before science confirmed that mosquitoes were malaria carriers. The lesson, his father told him, was that even as a doctor, it was sometimes important to go with your intuition. Duggar recalled that lesson at Lederle.

One day in 1945, while extracting molds from soil samples from a dormant hayfield on the University of Missouri campus, he noticed one was an unusual gold color. Duggar had isolated hundreds of what he called “ultra-molds” during his three years at Lederle.26 Somehow, he had a hunch this one was special. With SubbaRow overseeing his work, Duggar tested the mold he labeled A-377. To their elation, A-377 proved effective in halting the growth of both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, including the microbes responsible for bubonic plague, tuberculosis, typhus, and Rocky Mountain spotted fever.27 They had discovered the first broad-spectrum antibiotic since streptomycin.

Although SubbaRow and Duggar put it on a fast track, that did not translate into much speed given Lederle’s small staff and limited resources. It took three years of additional testing, until 1948, before Duggar was confident enough to publish a paper about his finding.28 There, he dubbed the antibiotic organism he discovered Streptomyces aureofaciens, the “gold maker.” Lederle executives liked that so much they gave the drug its brand name, Aureomycin (áureo is Latin for “gold”).

Before there could be certainty that Aureomycin was a wonder drug, Duggar had to produce enough of a purified version for human testing. SubbaRow and Duggar picked New York’s Louis Tompkins Wright to run clinical tests on the most important drug in the company’s history. A decade earlier Life had dubbed Wright the “most eminent Negro doctor in the U.S.… [the] surgical director of Harlem Hospital, [and] only colored Fellow of American College of Surgeons.”29 A lower-caste Indian rejected for tenure at Harvard had selected the son of a Confederate officer and doctor, and together they picked the most famous black doctor in America—the son of a slave who had himself become a physician—to conduct the clinical trials.

The fifty-seven-year-old Wright grew up in rural Georgia where his family set the example that nothing was impossible because of the color of his skin. Although both his grandfathers were white, his father was born a slave. When his father died not long after Louis’s birth, his mother met and married William Fletcher Penn, the first black graduate of Yale Medical School. Penn was one of only sixty-five black doctors in Georgia at the turn of the twentieth century.30 Doctors nationwide had to be members of the American Medical Association to practice at most hospitals, but the AMA left membership decisions to local chapters. Those in the Deep South refused to admit black doctors (the AMA did not change its national policy until 1950). The result was that many black doctors began operating rudimentary clinics to serve local patients, sometimes even running them from their homes.31

After graduating as the valedictorian at nearby Clark University, Wright took a train to Cambridge. He had sent his college transcript and a cover letter to the admissions department at Harvard Medical School. An interview with the Medical School dean was set. The dean mistakenly thought the Clark University on the transcript was the exclusive whites-only university in Worcester, Massachusetts. Upon meeting Wright and realizing his mistake he sent him to the chair of the chemistry department. That professor was a tough, no-nonsense academic who, the dean thought, would disabuse Wright of any thought he had of attending Harvard Medical. The chemistry chair tried to get rid of him by giving him an oral exam on the spot. Wright secured his admission, however, by correctly answering every question.32

During his second year, he could not do his obstetrics clerkship at the traditional Boston hospital for Harvard medical students but instead had to complete it with a black physician. “That is the way all the colored men get their obstetrics,” he was told.33 Instead of going along quietly, he protested and rallied the support of classmates. Harvard reversed itself. It was only one of many racial barriers he encountered. Despite graduating fourth in his 1915 class, he failed to get an internship at the city’s top hospitals.34 Wright did not want to intern at one of Boston’s black hospitals because he knew they had antiquated equipment and there was no opportunity to pursue clinical research, one of his passions.35 Ultimately, he had no choice. When no white hospital allowed him to complete his internship, he left Boston and started at Washington, D.C.’s, blacks-only Freedmen’s Hospital.36

Wright returned to Atlanta to work with his stepfather after his D.C. internship. Walter Penn had recently cofounded the Atlanta chapter of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People. Maybe the NAACP could help change things, he told Wright, who joined (for Wright it was the start of thirty-six years of storied activism with the NAACP).37 Frustrated, though, in Georgia, Wright joined the Army Medical Corps and was dispatched to France for the remainder of World War I.I 38

After two years of frontline surgical experience, he left the Army and opened his own practice in Harlem. In New York Wright discovered that there were layers of segregation that were more subtle than the South’s, but no less ingrained and rigid. Jewish and black doctors had their own hospitals and were mostly barred from integrated ones.39 On January 1, 1920, Wright was the first African American to join the staff of Harlem Hospital. Although his job was the lowest possible for a physician—“clinical assistant in the Outpatient Department”—four white doctors resigned in protest. The person responsible for Wright’s appointment was demoted to the information booth at Bellevue Hospital.40

Determined to demonstrate how good he was, Wright excelled. And soon it seemed “he was the first” had become part of his name. He was the first African American police surgeon in New York (1928); first admitted to the American College of Surgeons (1934); first director of surgery at Harlem Hospital (1943); and first president of the Hospital Board (1948).41

Lederle Laboratory’s SubbaRow and Duggar probably cared little about Wright’s trailblazing when it came to race and medicine. They chose him to conduct Aureomycin’s clinical trials because they considered him eminently qualified. He had by then published nearly ninety papers in leading scientific journals, thirty-five of them about antibiotics.42 And Wright, who had just returned to work after a three-year leave of absence to recuperate from a severe bout of tuberculosis, was enthusiastic about doing the testing. He had long been interested in LGV, a sexually transmitted infection of the lymphatic system. Aureomycin was his chance to discover whether a drug could help patients with the painful, chronic condition. Over two months in the spring and early summer of 1948 Wright conducted the first human experiments. Lederle’s drug destroyed the chlamydia bacteria responsible for the disease. It was also effective on a nasty viral variant of pneumonia. Wright uncovered few side effects and certainly nothing toxic. His report to Lederle was that their drug was ready for public release.43

By the time Aureomycin was ready to go on sale in December 1948, Lederle’s chief of research, Yellapragada SubbaRow, was not alive to savor it. He had died the previous August of a heart attack at the age of fifty-three.II SubbaRow would have liked Lederle’s strong launch, advertising the drug as “the most versatile antibiotic yet discovered, with a wider range of activity than any other known remedy.”44 The company spent a record $2.4 million in promotion, including a first, 142,000 free samples to doctors nationwide.45 It took until September of the following year before the U.S. issued Aureomycin patent number 2,482,055. That was what every pharma competitor had been waiting for. Lederle had proven that it was possible to obtain a patented monopoly on a broad-spectrum antibiotic. Its competitors were determined that Aureomycin would not have the market to itself for very long.

As for the three men responsible for discovering and testing Aureomycin, the public recognition they received for the accomplishment was imbalanced at best. After SubbaRow’s death, Lederle named a library block on its campus for him, as well as a fungus (Subbaromyces splendens). The Indian government issued a commemorative stamp in 1995 on his birthday centennial. When Louis Wright was nominated in 1952 for a Distinguished Service Medal, he got only one vote from the National Medical Association. A few months later when he died unexpectedly at the age of sixty-one, his death went mostly unnoticed except in the African American press and some medical journals. The New York Times did not even run a stand-alone obituary, instead listing him with other deaths for that day.

In contrast, when Benjamin Duggar died in 1956, his passing was covered widely for his breakthrough drug discovery. This time the Times did a story in its national section, titled “Dr. Benjamin Duggar Dies at 84; Led in Discovery of Aureomycin; Conducted Antibiotic Research After Being Retired from a Teaching as Too Old.”46

I. Wright watched in frustration as the federal government established the Veterans’ Bureau in 1921 and opened a Veterans’ Hospital for blacks only in Tuskegee, Alabama (a decision protested by the KKK in large street demonstrations). It was impossible, Wright knew, that a single hospital could meet the medical needs of the 385,000 black soldiers, overwhelmingly from the South. Eleven years later, that Veterans’ hospital became one of three local clinics involved in the Public Health Service’s notorious “Tuskegee Study of Untreated Syphilis in the Negro Male.” It turned into a forty-year experiment on hundreds of black men about the ravaging effects of untreated syphilis. The men, many poor sharecroppers from Macon County, were never treated with any medications.

II. Few doctors then believed there was any connection between lifestyle and heart disease. If it had been a more prevalent theory, someone might have taken notice that SubbaRow had arrived in America as a practicing Hindu, a nonsmoking vegetarian. In the U.S., he adopted an American diet, high in saturated fat and lots of red meat. He had also become a heavy smoker.






7 A ONE-ATOM DIFFERENCE


The 1948 launch of Aureomycin was the first in a rush of new antibiotics. Lederle’s rivals marveled at how a single drug produced huge profits. In its first year it captured more than a quarter of all American antibiotic sales. Aureomycin’s profit margin was an impressive 35 percent; that compared to a measly 3 percent on Lederle’s nonantibiotic drugs.1 Competitors were pushing as fast as possible the development of their own “wonder drugs.”

Many doctors and patients thought of the drugs as a frontline defense not simply for serious bacterial contagions but also for sinus, urinary tract, and dental infections, acne, even prophylactically at the first signs of a fever, earache, scratchy throat, or runny nose. One microbiologist estimated that overenthusiasm about the new drugs meant they were prescribed unnecessarily more than 90 percent of the time.2 The FDA did not seem overly bothered by the unrestrained dosing since there were few reported side effects.3 Accounts of itching, nausea, upset stomach, and hives were dismissed as the inevitable sensitivity of a few patients. A handful of reports identified far more serious consequences, including fungal and bacterial superinfections as the drugs also killed off the body’s good bacteria, antibiotic poisoning, and the beginning of drug resistance. That news was lost in the public’s enthusiasm for antibiotics.4 I

One reason for the FDA silence was that Walter Dunbar, the chemist who had become the FDA’s commissioner in 1944, did not want the agency to be perceived as a bureaucratic obstacle to the rapid deployment of lifesaving antibacterials. Even if Dunbar had wanted to sound a cautionary note about the overuse of antibiotics, the FDA had few tools at its disposal. It was short on staff and Congress had cut its budget to $5 million. On average, the FDA managed to thoroughly review only one in every dozen new drug applications.5 It was largely a bystander as the antibiotic gold rush became the most lucrative period in pharmaceutical history and upended the industry’s sales and marketing practices.

Parke-Davis, whose previous hits had been the hormone Adrenalin, the anticonvulsant Dilantin, and the antihistamine Benadryl, was the first to release an Aureomycin competitor. In 1949, it announced the sale of Chloromycetin, a broad-spectrum antibiotic it had tested in its labs for two years. Parke-Davis set its largest advertising budget and doubled its sales force for a drug that Collier’s praised “as the greatest antibiotic since penicillin.”6 In under a year, Parke-Davis bragged that with revenues of $138 million it had claimed the title of the world’s largest drug company. Forty percent of that came from Chloromycetin (Parke-Davis continued marketing it despite occasional reports it sometimes induced a rare blood disorder).7

The success of Lederle and Parke-Davis only whet the appetite of John McKeen, Pfizer’s hard-charging chairman. Born in Manhattan and raised in Brooklyn’s Flatbush neighborhood, the no-nonsense forty-eight-year-old McKeen had joined Pfizer in 1926. A former star college quarterback, he had come to the attention of management when he developed a paint that solved the company’s costly corrosion problem on its stainless-steel manufacturing equipment. Because he demonstrated a talent for cutting costs while increasing production yields, by 1937 he was in charge of quality control and plant construction.8 By the time he became president in 1949, he was anxious to remake the small Brooklyn chemical and mining company into a fully integrated pharmaceutical firm. Before the wartime penicillin project, Pfizer was best known as a manufacturer of citric acid. It never marketed any medication under its own name but instead the few it produced were for other drug firms. Without its own broad-spectrum antibiotic, the company derived most of its revenue as the largest manufacturer of penicillin and streptomycin, which it sold under the brand names of rivals.9 Both drugs were still popular, but their tumbling prices had put the company under tremendous pressure, cutting deeply into Pfizer’s profit margins. There was no further room for discounting.

McKeen was impatient for a new product and wanted what one industry analyst dubbed “a speed record among antibiotics.”10 He assembled a team of virologists, biochemists, bacteriologists, chemical engineers, pharmacologists, and microbiologists, challenging them to accomplish in a year what had taken fifteen with penicillin.11 Pfizer had been gathering and testing soil samples since 1945 at a state-of-the-art lab in Terre Haute, Indiana. There it had amassed more than 135,000 samples, some sent by foreign correspondents, pilots, even missionaries.12 A Pfizer chemist later recalled that they collected “soil samples from cemeteries; we had balloons up in the air [to] collect soil that was windborne; we got soil from the bottom of mine shafts… [even] the bottom of the ocean.”13 Despite more than 20 million tests, the lab’s microbiologists had not found a new and effective antibiotic culture.

By 1950, pharmaceuticals for the first time became the country’s most profitable industry.14 McKeen felt, however, as if Pfizer had missed the party. In a speech that March to the New York Society of Security Analysts, he was blunt: “If you want to lose your shirt in a hurry, start making penicillin and streptomycin.… From a profit point of view, the only realistic solution to this problem lies in the development of new and exclusive antibiotic specialties.”15 McKeen often referred to streptomycin as “distress-merchandise.”16

Pharma’s old guard, such as George Merck, did not believe that drug firms should put profits first. Merck thought it was possible to invest in research to produce drugs for the common good while also delivering the solid financial results demanded by investors. That philosophy was one of the reasons that Fortune cited Merck as the “most admired” company in America for a record seven consecutive years. In 1950, while McKeen was complaining about the poor returns on penicillin and streptomycin, Merck-associated scientists won the Nobel in Medicine for their synthesis of cortisone, the first of nearly two dozen subsequent Nobel awards.17

When George Merck addressed the graduating class of the Medical College of Virginia later that year, he set a high bar for the industry. “We try to remember that medicine is for the patient. We try never to forget that medicine is for the people. It is not for the profits. The profits follow, and if we have remembered that, they have never failed to appear. The better we have remembered it, the larger they have been.”18

Those who knew Merck did not doubt his sincerity. He often spoke privately about his company as if it were a quasi-public trust. Many at that graduation ceremony accepted what Merck said in good faith. That was evidence of how much goodwill the industry had at the start of the second half of the twentieth century.

Not everyone was enamored, however, with Merck’s “medicine is for the patient” philosophy. When McKeen heard it, he dismissed the words as a clever public relations ploy.19 Executives in the McKeen mold believed that no drug was worthwhile if it did not return a hefty profit. One obstacle, thought McKeen, was that almost all the industry’s scientists collected the same salary whether they made a Nobel Prize–winning discovery or found nothing in their testing. They very rarely got a bonus if a drug became a blockbuster, nor did they get their pay docked if something they invented failed in clinical tests. Their interests were pretty much the same as if they had worked for a university. McKeen believed that giving the researchers so much independence was a mistake. He wanted to empower the sales and marketing division with the authority to guide the scientists toward the medicines that might sell best. In McKeen’s judgment, good marketing could sell even a mediocre drug.

Everything at Pfizer seemed to hinge on a yellow gold-colored powder its scientists had extracted from soil taken not far from the company’s Terre Haute lab. It was labeled PA-76 (PA stands for Pfizer Antibiotic). Further testing demonstrated its effectiveness against more than a hundred Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria as well as even some fungi. The scientific tradition was that the discoverer named the drug. In the case of PA-76, McKeen took charge. From a list of several dozen names he chose Terramycin (Latin for “high land”). “I wanted a name connected with the earth,” he later said, “and one that could easily be recalled by doctors, scientists and people in general.”20

There was a small problem, however. Pfizer’s scientists reported that the chemical structure of its drug appeared identical to Lederle’s Aureomycin. It was as if each company had found and invented the same medication. Lederle had been a few steps ahead and had a patent on its drug. McKeen was not concerned whether they were the same. He needed someone to figure out how to make Terramycin different in a patent application. Differentiating the molecular structure of the two drugs had stymied Pfizer’s chemists. McKeen hired Robert Burns Woodward, the world’s best-known chemist. He had written hundreds of highly cited, peer-reviewed papers and earned every prestigious award except for a Nobel in his more than four decades at Harvard (he added a Nobel in Chemistry to his résumé in 1965).21

Woodward found Aureomycin was missing a single oxygen atom present in Terramycin.22 It was a trifling difference, even for a chemist. It did not affect, Woodward said, the way the drugs worked in patients. But it was all McKeen needed. The extra oxygen atom allowed Pfizer’s attorneys to file an application with the Patent Office.23

Pfizer pressed for expedited processing. In an affidavit included in its submission, McKeen noted that Pfizer had “spent large sums of money in the research and development” of Terramycin and said it “must decide in the near future” whether to “invest heavily” to manufacture and sell the drug.

He had made no effort to characterize his company’s antibiotic research as motivated by a desire to better serve public health. He instead made it clear that Pfizer was looking for a solid return on its investment.24 The Terramycin patent was issued in just seven months, a record. (The average drug patent at the time took three and a half years.)25

Pfizer had started clinical trials while the patent application had been pending. McKeen selected Gladys Hobby, a Columbia University microbiologist, to collate the results from over one hundred physicians nationwide. Hobby had led some of the early penicillin testing and she conducted her own trials on Terramycin that December at Harlem Hospital. It was the same place where Louis Wright had run the clinical trials the previous year for Aureomycin. By the time the patent was issued, Hobby had sent the stellar clinical results to McKeen.26

In preparation for Terramycin’s sale, Pfizer’s directors unanimously approved changes to the company’s bylaws so it could bypass traditional drug distribution companies and instead itself sell directly “to retailers, wholesalers, and hospitals.”27

FDA approval was the last hurdle before the eight newly hired “detail men” could start work in earnest.28 Some of Pfizer’s rivals had detail departments for more than a decade. The job entailed personal visits to doctors’ offices for promoting the company’s drugs. Good detail men boosted sales for a drug even though they did not take orders for them. All they did was persuade physicians—the indispensable middle person in the pharmaceutical-to-consumer model—to write prescriptions for the company’s brands.

In late February 1950, Pfizer submitted the drug to the FDA for approval. All eyes turned to Henry Welch, who had recently become the chief of the FDA’s powerful Division of Antibiotics. Welch—who had a doctorate in bacteriology from Western Reserve—had joined the FDA in 1938 after the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act had expanded the agency’s powers. During World War II he had overseen the division responsible for certifying the quality of penicillin manufactured by pharma companies.29 In 1950, he had cemented his status as a prominent figure in the emerging world of antibiotics as the editor of a new publication, The Journal of Antibiotics. His editorial board had five Nobel Prize winners in medicine, including Alexander Fleming, Selman Waksman, and Howard Florey. In his new role as chief of the Division of Antibiotics, Welch single-handedly wielded influence to fast-track or delay an antibiotic application. A postponement could complicate any firm’s well-planned drug launch, adding months to the rollout and costing millions in lost sales.

Welch recommended to the FDA commissioners that they accept Pfizer’s clinical studies at face value and on March 23, 1951, the FDA approved Terramycin.30 It was the first drug under the Pfizer label that the company had developed on its own, from discovery in the lab to sales to the public.31

Jack McKeen had his broad-spectrum antibiotic. But he knew that his company lacked the sales and marketing know-how to sell it. Some rivals thought that shortcoming would cause Pfizer to stumble. McKeen, however, had not invested so much time and money to let the drug fizzle. He turned for help to New York’s Madison Avenue. No traditional ad agency, however, wanted the pharma business because the marketing was restricted by what drug companies considered respectable ways to promote their products. “Respectable” translated into boring by Madison Avenue standards. The ads that ran in specialized medical journals were often reproductions of the drug’s packaging insert. The industry that had gotten its start with outrageous claims for dubious patent medicines, plastered in newspapers and on billboards across America, had morphed into the dullest business sector.

McKeen wanted someone capable of devising an unorthodox campaign that not only worked for Terramycin but could be the template for future Pfizer drugs. It took McKeen little time to settle on the right man, Arthur Sackler, an ad executive who was also a physician. Sackler was at the forefront of the embryonic medical advertising industry. There were only a handful of agencies staking out the fledgling market. McKeen had made a good choice. Sackler’s aggressive and brilliant marketing would not only make Terramycin a blockbuster. In the process, he would forever transform how the pharmaceutical industry sold its drugs.

I. No organized medical group existed to serve as a central repository for collecting and disseminating the risks and side effects as they were reported. The Infectious Diseases Society of America, the professional organization that is a critical resource for physicians and scientists, was not created until 1963.






8 A “JEWISH KID FROM BROOKLYN”


As a self-described “Jewish kid from Brooklyn,” Arthur Sackler did not advertise his Jewish roots in the WASP world of Madison Avenue.1 One of Sackler’s attorneys recalled how many times Sackler endured the ingrained anti-Semitism that was a hallmark of the 1950s New York ad business: “You would sit at meetings where they would tell Jewish jokes, anti-Jewish jokes, and you had to sit there and swallow it, and laugh along with the boys.”2 Sackler did not like it. He did not protest, however. Arthur instead decided his best revenge would be to beat his rival Mad Men, most of whom came from privileged families and boasted of Ivy League degrees, exclusive country club memberships, and listings in the society pages.

Arthur was born in Brooklyn in 1913 to Sophie and Isaac Sackler, Orthodox Jewish immigrants from Eastern Europe, who ran a small grocery store. They named him Abraham, after his grandfather (he later used that only on legal papers and opted instead for the less Jewish-sounding Arthur). When he was five, an influenza epidemic killed more than thirty thousand New Yorkers. The family’s Flatbush neighborhood was hard hit. It was then, he later said, that he first thought of becoming a doctor.

After Sackler tested well on an IQ test, he joined a small class for gifted students at Brooklyn’s Erasmus Hall High School. There were few Jews; and one of the teachers was overtly anti-Semitic.3 Sackler kept a quiet profile, outperforming others while dividing his free time visiting the Brooklyn Museum or taking the subway to Manhattan to study with noted sculptor Chaim Gross at the Lower East Side’s Educational Alliance Art School.4

After graduating from Erasmus, he enrolled in New York University’s College of Arts and Sciences, then situated on top of a hill in the Bronx.5 His major was English drama and at night he took classes on art history at tuition-free Cooper Union.6

His parents were hardworking. The savage downturn of the Great Depression, however, cost them their business and wiped out their savings, as it did for many of their neighbors and friends.7 They had two more sons by then, Mortimer and Raymond. Unless Arthur found a job with a decent wage, he could not afford his NYU tuition, much less indulge his art interests. Ever practical, he added premed courses to his curriculum. “Unfortunately, early in life,” he later recalled, “I realized my limitations.”8

Given his financial pressures, art could not long compete with medicine as a career choice. The widespread belief among many recently arrived immigrants was that unrestrained capitalism had led to the economic collapse. That kindled Sackler’s early attraction to left-wing politics.9 Socialism was dominant in New York’s Jewish neighborhoods. Sackler’s parents had been part of the enormous wave of two million Jews from the Russian and Austro-Hungarian empires that arrived in America during a four-decade span ending in 1920. Living in overcrowded tenements and working long hours at factories in unsafe and harsh conditions, New York Jews became the force behind trade unions. Integral to the message about workers’ rights were underlying socialist themes about developing a cooperative, classless society. Sackler’s parents subscribed to Forverts (Forward), a socialist daily that, with a quarter million readers, was also the world’s largest Yiddish newspaper. Many of their Brooklyn neighbors belonged to the United Hebrew Trades, an umbrella socialist organization designed to mobilize the Jewish workers who dominated the garment industry.10 Jews accounted for 40 percent of New York’s Socialist Party (not as shocking a figure as it might at first glance seem since Jews made up one third of the city’s population).11 The year before Arthur’s birth, the Socialist candidate for president, Eugene V. Debs, garnered nearly a million votes (6 percent of the popular vote). Sixty percent of New York’s Jewish voters voted for him.12

Arthur was one of a small group of committed Marxists at NYU. He had little opportunity, however, as an editor for the Journal of the Medical Students Association to indulge his politics. For protests over undergraduate rights, Sackler produced a “very crude strike bulletin.”13 He also handled demands and negotiations with the college administration on behalf of his striking fellow students.14 Mostly, however, to pay his bills he took a series of part-time jobs at Drake Business Schools, the Medical Bulletin of Bellevue Hospital, and even a few months at William Douglas McAdams, a four-person firm that specialized in the just emerging field of medical advertising. It sounded dull but germane to his studies. There Sackler learned he had a talent for writing ad copy.15

During his last year of medical school, he met Else Finnich Jorgensen, the daughter of a Danish family that had recently emigrated to America. After a short courtship he proposed. Sophie Sackler was crushed that her eldest son would marry a non-Jew. It was such a source of contention that Else converted to Judaism.16 Sackler was only twenty-four when he graduated in 1937 from the NYU School of Medicine with specialties in psychiatry and neuroendocrinology. He began a rotating internship at Lincoln Hospital in the South Bronx, run by New York City’s Department of Public Welfare.17

Arthur’s younger brothers, Mortimer and Raymond, decided to follow him into medicine. Just a couple of months after Arthur’s graduation, Mortimer got the bad news that he had failed to get one of the spots then allotted for Jews in New York’s medical schools. So Mortimer instead sailed steerage to the U.K.18 In Glasgow, the Jewish community helped him get admitted to the well-respected Anderson College of Medicine. Two years later the same happened to Raymond.19

During the spare time of his hospital internship, Arthur raised money to support Norman Bethune, a Canadian physician Sackler called his “moral exemplar.”20 Bethune was a committed communist who had volunteered as a battlefield surgeon for anti-fascist fighters in Spain before moving to China in 1938 to join the communist insurrection. Mao Zedong commissioned him to lead a mobile operating unit at the front. Arthur thought Bethune was a model for what a politically committed doctor might achieve.

By the time Arthur completed his residency in December 1939, however, Bethune was dead at forty-nine. He had cut himself during a battlefield operation and the resulting blood infection proved fatal. Years later everyone would know as much about Bethune as Sackler did; Chairman Mao made him a hero of the Communist Revolution by dedicating an essay to him.21 And Arthur, when he visited China much later to sponsor medical conferences, told his Chinese hosts that nothing would be a greater honor for him than to be “a present-day Bethune.”22

Bethune’s death put Sackler into a funk. His parents were distressed to learn he had skipped the state medical exam, the final requirement before he could practice as a physician. Instead, the twenty-seven-year-old learned about a job at Schering, the American subsidiary of the German pharma company. Schering hired Sackler as the deputy to the director of its four-person Medical Information Division, the company’s bare-bones ad department.23 One of his jobs while working through school had been selling ads for Drake Business Schools and the Medical Bulletin of Bellevue Hospital.24 He had told friends he thought many advertisers wasted their money since they did not know how to put a good sales pitch into a few columns of newsprint. The Schering post gave him a chance to prove he knew better. He tried jump-starting Schering’s stagnant product line by creating the first graphic ads in medical journals. Before long he was pestering management in vain for a larger budget for a direct mail campaign.

World War II had been under way a few months by the time Arthur began working at Schering. He was one of the few in the forty-person executive suite who was not a native-born German.25 Some recent arrivals, he learned, were German Jews, although none advertised that. Dr. Julius Weltzien, the CEO, was the son of a Christian schoolteacher father and a nonpracticing Jewish mother.26 By Nazi race laws he was Jewish. Weltzien was one of seven “Jewish” managers and senior executives the German parent had transferred to America in 1938. By the end of that year, Schering in Germany had purged all Jewish directors in order to get a Certificate in Good Standing as an Aryan Company (the Nazi Ministry of Economics complained the following year that the U.S. branch was merely a subterfuge that kept Jews in management).27

America did not prove much of a safe haven for men like Weltzien.28 Declassified FBI files obtained by the author reveal that the Bureau investigated German and Swiss pharmaceutical firms in America even before the U.S. formally entered the war after the attack on Pearl Harbor. It suspected that Schering, Hoffmann-La Roche, and Ciba Chemical were conduits for money to blacklisted countries. Schering, in particular, had obtained from several German conglomerates the exclusive patent rights for drugs the FBI considered “of great importance from the standpoint of national defense.”29 The U.S. military had concluded that its “adrenalin hormone which is used in the treatment of shock, especially shock resulting from severe burns and wounds, is of direct and immediate importance to our war efforts [and could]… have saved the lives of thousands of English soldiers after Dunkirk.”30

The FBI suspected that Schering sold those drugs through “Panamanian dummy corporations” and then funneled the profits to “a Swiss Holding company.” The FBI concluded the conspiracy had resulted in $2.5 million ($23 million in 2018) making its way to “Nazi controlled banks.”31 The British Ministry of Economic Warfare urged the U.S. to freeze Schering’s accounts. The British charged that the company bankrolled a network of Nazi agents in foreign countries and its trade with South America was a sophisticated scheme to circumvent the British blockade of Europe.32 As a result, the FBI pressured Weltzien and other executives, demanding they cooperate or be investigated for espionage.

FBI files reveal the Bureau had developed six confidential informants at Schering. One reported that during the previous year “a Jewish influence had been growing in the company… the management was Jewish.” That unidentified source reported that Weltzien “denies the fact that he is a Jew” although the informant “feels sure he is.”33 To another, Weltzien admitted his mother was Jewish but insisted he was not, and that he was first and foremost a German.34

Hiding a Jewish family background was not unusual in Hitler’s Germany. The Bureau had mistakenly thought that that fear would disappear for Germans who had recently emigrated to America. Yet they did not feel safe simply because they were several thousand miles away from Germany. They worried about the safety of relatives left behind. (Weltzien’s mother later killed herself instead of being deported to a concentration camp.)35

If Weltzien was Jewish, the FBI wondered if that made it less likely that the New Jersey subsidiary played a key role in an elaborate scheme to funnel money to the Third Reich. According to the Bureau’s chief informant, Weltzien and the other emigrant executives were “international Jews who would pour oil on both fires [Allied and Axis powers] if a profit was in sight.”36 Still, the FBI obtained information from Schering’s few American Jewish employees, including Sackler. Declassified FBI files reveal that Arthur secretly helped the government agents: “Dr. Sackler is considered to be completely reliable and was of considerable assistance to the investigation.”37

American socialists and communists were justifiably suspicious of the FBI; the Bureau treated membership in many left-wing organizations and political groups as proof of seditious intent. Sackler’s cooperation is strong evidence that his distaste for Hitler’s Third Reich trumped whatever apprehensions he had about helping the Bureau. (Arthur later told his family that he had volunteered to be drafted when the war broke out but had been rejected because of nearsightedness. The author was unable to verify whether he ever applied for military service.)38

During this period Arthur met Ludwig Wolfgang Fröhlich, a German who had emigrated to the U.S. in 1936 after a brief stopover in Bermuda.39 Fröhlich, who applied the following year for American citizenship, would play a critical role in Sackler’s life.40 The same age as Arthur, he worked at the American subsidiary of a German typesetting firm. He Americanized his name to Bill and dropped the umlaut. If someone later asked what the W stood for, he said William. Frohlich was formal and charming. Colleagues and friends took notice of his tailored suits and talked about his refined sense of style.41

The no-nonsense Sackler with his sharp Brooklyn accent and the suave, softly spoken Frohlich would seem to have little in common. They shared a love of fine art, however, and were hugely ambitious in an era where such an admission was considered gauche. They became close friends.42

In the social watering holes on Manhattan’s Upper East Side to which Frohlich gravitated, he focused on cultivating the right connections to gain entrée to New York’s old-money crowd. He never talked about his past and steered away from conversations about the tumultuous events wracking Europe and his native Germany. An aura of mystery allowed plenty of rumors about him. At first, many thought he was a Jew who had fled Hitler. But that seemed less likely the more they got to know him. The friends he sought were from influential WASP families, many listed in the Social Register.

If Frohlich was not Jewish, then the gossipers wondered if he might be a Nazi. That rumor reached the FBI. The Bureau conducted a brief but intensive background check and failed to uncover any link to the Third Reich.43

Arthur Sackler was one of the very few who knew Frohlich was Jewish. Arthur understood the reasons why his new friend wanted it a secret. A surprisingly small number of colleagues knew that Sackler was Jewish.44

Hiding one’s religion had not been easy in Nazi Germany. When applying in 1934 to Frankfurt’s Goethe University, for instance, Frohlich filled an admissions form for “non-Aryans.” On it, he noted that his family had lived in Germany since the fifteenth century and that his father fought for Germany in World War I. He also had to admit, however, that neither his parents nor grandparents were “of Aryan origin” (Nazis race laws considered anyone with one Jewish grandparent to be Jewish themselves).45 The answer was also no as to whether his family had “renounced their Jewish faith.”46

Frohlich had made a wide circle of well-placed friends before his younger sister, Ingrid, and their mother arrived in New York in 1938. His connections helped land the five-foot-eight Ingrid a coveted job as a couture model for Sophie Gimbel, the noted American designer who ran Saks Fifth Avenue’s fabled Salon Moderne custom dress shop. Sophie was the first female clothing designer to make the cover of Time.47 Only a wealthy clientele—including the Woolworths, du Ponts, Huttons, Dukes, and Loebs—could afford her steep prices, ranging from popular day dresses at $300 to $1,500 for hand-stitched evening gowns ($5,463 to $27,315 in 2019 dollars).48

Since working at Sophie’s put Ingrid in touch with a rarefied crowd, the Frohlichs decided it was important to their new lives in America not only to deny their Judaism but to go out of their way to do so.49 The author discovered that the last time either admitted to being Jewish was on their U.S. immigration papers, in which “German/Hebrew” is listed for both as nationality.50 Ingrid, in particular, was insistent she was not Jewish.51 “Christian” was her answer if asked about religion (later changed to “Lutheran” before finally becoming “Catholic”). A distant relative recalled years later that Ingrid often said, “Those Jewish people, I can’t stand them.”52

It worked. Ingrid became one of Sophie’s top models. She was the personal favorite of Wallis Simpson, the American divorcée for whom the King of England, Edward VIII, had abdicated his throne. British intelligence was so concerned about Edward and Simpson’s pro-German sympathies that the government exiled the couple to the Bahamas for five years. There, Edward served as the island’s governor. Simpson battled boredom with regular shopping sprees to the U.S. Her carefree lifestyle angered many in Britain who endured constant German bombs, rockets, blackouts, and strict food rationing.

Sometimes Ingrid flew to Miami to model some of Sophie’s designs for the duchess. During one trip she met her future husband, a wealthy Florida accountant, Thomas Burns. After they wed she became Kathleen Ingrid Burns and made an easy transition from the insular world of Sophie’s salon to social seasons in New York and Palm Beach.53 She joined the two most exclusive and prominent Palm Beach country clubs, the Bath and Tennis Club and Everglades Club, both of which enforced a “no Jews” admission policy.54 In Manhattan, she became a member of the Colony Club, an all-women’s club most famous for Eleanor Roosevelt’s resignation after it rejected the membership application of Elinor Morgenthau, the wife of FDR’s secretary of the treasury, Henry (the Morgenthaus were Jewish). The club was not apologetic about its exclusionary policy.55

Meanwhile, Ludwig joined Manhattan’s University Club, which also barred Jews (that policy ended in 1962).56 It was not long before he collected an eclectic and creative group of friends, including composer Aaron Copland and soprano Birgit Nilsson. When he later bought an East 63rd Street townhouse, he hosted parties that were coveted invites.57 And with Ingrid, he purchased a small retreat in East Hampton. There he became a member of the Devon Yacht Club and both joined the exclusive Maidstone Club.58

Judaism was not L. W. Frohlich’s only secret. Only a couple of his closest friends knew he was gay. For the rest of the world, he was one of New York’s most eligible bachelors, often in the company of beautiful women.59 “He will never settle down,” was the common refrain from the gossipy dowagers who saw him with different dates at social events.

Two years after meeting Sackler, Frohlich left his job at the typesetting firm to launch his own art studio. Sackler tried helping him in his new venture by sending a lot of Schering’s typesetting and graphics work.60 Sackler was not only enjoying his work inside the ad department, but his medical degree gave him a role in drafting booklets that Schering sent to doctors from its Medical Research Division.61

That work at Schering was short lived. Not long after the December 1941 attack at Pearl Harbor, newspapers reported the Roosevelt administration was preparing to select an Alien Property Custodian. That had last happened during World War I, when the federal government seized assets of all significant German-owned properties in America. Arthur Sackler recognized that the only way Schering might avoid that same fate was if an American owned it.

Arthur had become familiar with Schering’s strengths and weaknesses and was confident the right owner could turn it into a far more powerful pharmaceutical company than the one the government might seize. He arranged a meeting with Alfred Stern, the heir to a wealthy banking family, who had himself earned a small fortune in Chicago real estate. Stern’s first marriage had been to one of the daughters of Julius Rosenwald, the part owner of Sears and Roebuck and one of the country’s most progressive philanthropists. He had assumed control of the family’s charitable foundation after Rosenwald’s 1932 death. One of Stern’s first endeavors was to fund the Institute for Psychoanalysis in Chicago, dedicated to research about the causes and treatment of mental illness. That intrigued Sackler, who had decided that if he ever became a practicing physician, it would be as a psychiatrist.62

By the time Sackler reached out to him, Stern had divorced Rosenwald’s daughter and remarried. His new wife was Martha Dodd, the daughter of an American historian and diplomat. She had a secret. Soviet intelligence had recruited her as an agent while she was living with her father, the U.S. ambassador to Germany before World War II.63 Martha soon converted Stern into an enthusiastic backer of left-wing causes, including Modern Age Books, an experimental paperback publisher of radical literature.64 Stern had moved to New York, bought an East Side townhouse, and worked from an expansive office in Rockefeller Center. He became a director of New York’s Citizens Housing and Planning Council, a haven for many left-wing intellectuals and militants fighting under the broad banner of “tenants’ rights.”

Sackler liked Stern’s politics, activism, and his bank account. And Stern liked that someone who held only the number two spot in an underutilized part of Schering had the gumption to want to buy the company. But they could not act quickly enough. Beginning in January 1942, federal agents entered Schering and took physical control of its New Jersey headquarters.65 The Alien Property Custodian was formally appointed the following month and straightaway seized all German-owned corporate assets in the U.S. (It took ten years before Schering was sold at public auction for $29 million—$281 million in 2019 dollars—to the Plough family and renamed Schering-Plough).66

Frohlich sold his design studio in early 1943 and launched L. W. Frohlich Inc., a medical advertising agency, at a nine-story brick townhouse at 34 East 51st Street. Parke-Davis became his first client. Sackler had introduced Frohlich to a senior vice president there. He knew they both shared a passion for opera and had season tickets to the Metropolitan.67 Sackler correctly figured that would open the door to business.68

Arthur was uncharacteristically undecided about what to do next. It was an unplanned opportunity for him to spend more time with Else and their first child, Carol, born the previous August. He vacillated about taking the state medical exam. Although he had little desire to begin private practice, it would give an option of working one day with his brothers, Mortimer and Raymond. They were only several years away from getting their own MD degrees. While Arthur had worked at Schering toying with new marketing concepts, Mortimer had switched schools and finished his studies at Middlesex University School of Medicine in Waltham, Massachusetts (on land occupied now by Brandeis). Raymond, who had volunteered during the Battle of Britain serving as a plane spotter for the British Home Guard, followed his brother back to Middlesex. Their timing was auspicious. They got their degrees just before the school lost its accreditation, disqualifying some graduates from taking the state boards.69

On January 29, 1944, twenty-three-year-old Raymond married nineteen-year-old Beverly Feldman, a premed student at New York University. She was from a working-class Jewish family in the same Brooklyn neighborhood as the Sacklers.70 Raymond and Beverly shared Arthur’s hard-line leftist politics. A confidential informant had secretly taken photos of the 1944 membership list of the Communist Party of America (CPA) Kensington Club on Church Avenue in Brooklyn. Among the names were Raymond Sackler and Beverly Feldman, both of whom the FBI discovered were card-carrying party members. When the newlyweds moved temporarily to Boston that April so Raymond could finish his Middlesex studies, they transferred their membership to the party’s Boston chapter.71 On Raymond’s graduation that September, the couple returned to Brooklyn. Beverly began studies at NYU Medical School while Raymond started as an intern at Harlem Hospital. Again, they requested their party memberships be returned to the local New York chapter.72

The couple had joined the Communist Party during its peak in the years following the Great Depression and World War II. The party had only 6,000 members before the 1929 stock market crash. A decade later it was 66,000.73 In the 1930s and 1940s, half the members were Jewish, mostly Eastern European immigrant families like the Sacklers and Feldmans.74 According to A. B. Magil, a card-carrying member of the American Communist Party who later worked for Arthur, “a reliable source” told him that “all three Sacklers had been party members early on, but not for long.”75 I

Raymond and Beverly remained steadfast communists through a period that tested the faith of some party loyalists. Joseph Stalin’s show trials of the old Bolshevik party leaders began in the mid-1930s. It was the start of Stalin’s bloody and brutal “Great Purge.” Germany’s communists had helped the Nazis bring down the Weimar Republic. Stalin signed a nonaggression pact with Hitler and then joined the Nazis in conquering and dividing Poland in September 1939.

The file the FBI opened on Raymond and Beverly in 1944 remained active at least until 1968. The Bureau occasionally assigned agents to call or visit the Sacklers, always under some concocted story, to discover if their Communist Party affiliation made them security risks.76 The family always refused to discuss any political allegiances with the FBI.77

While Raymond and Mortimer were in their first-year residencies at Harlem Hospital in 1944, Arthur took a career detour. Frohlich told him there was an opening at William Douglas McAdams. Arthur had a part-time job there eight years earlier while working his way through New York University. William Douglas McAdams, a Chicago journalist, had started his agency in 1926 with consumer accounts that included Van Camp Beans and Mother’s Oats. He later convinced Squibb it could sell more of its cod liver oil if it advertised to doctors in medical journals. That campaign doubled Squibb’s cod liver oil sales in under a year.78 McAdams boasted to Sackler that his agency was the nation’s largest medical advertiser. He hired Arthur and gave him the impressive title of “medical and creative director.”79 It did not take Sackler very long to realize that being the country’s biggest medical ad firm was not much to boast about given that the market was tiny.

In addition to his new McAdams job, Arthur also started a part-time residency that same year at Creedmoor Psychiatric Hospital in Queens, a seven-thousand-bed state mental institution.80 The little free time he had vanished once he was promoted in record time to become vice president of McAdams.81

Mortimer and Raymond followed Arthur to Creedmoor. All three shared a belief that mental illness likely had biochemical roots that could be treated, or at least controlled, with medication.82 That concept countered the prevailing Freudian theory that mental disorders were the result of people’s experiences. The problem wasn’t Freud, Arthur wrote years later in an essay about the future of psychiatry, but rather that the search for “an organic foundation” of mental illness “was obscured, if not lost, in the brilliance of his psychodynamics.”83 There was little funding for research into organic causes or pharmaceutical treatments.

The Sacklers saw little hope in earlier and cruder treatments, including electroshock and lobotomies. Instead, they hoped at Creedmoor to establish a research institute, supported by state funding, that concentrated on nascent drug therapies, primarily hormones.

American psychiatry, which was in its heyday in the 1950s, accommodated their left-wing politics. The FBI had placed an undercover informant inside the American Communist Party during the 1940s. In congressional testimony and public interviews the following decade, the informant disclosed that the party had a secret “professional unit” composed of “psychiatrists, psychologists, medical doctors and social, health and welfare workers.”84 “A huge percentage of young psychiatrists in the 1930s and 1940s considered themselves to be Marxists,” history and psychology professor Ben Harris told the author.85

Arthur wanted to find work that would allow him to merge his medical knowledge and political zeal. During World War II, he got angry about the Red Cross’s policy of refusing all blood donations from blacks, and later accepting them but segregating both the collection and dispensing of white and black blood. Although the Army’s surgeon general realized there was no convincing medical reason for separating blood by race, he advised the assistant secretary of war that it was “psychologically important in America.” Labor unions, some activist black newspapers, militant left-wing newsletters, and the American Communist Party were at the forefront demanding change. The communists condemned the blood drive segregation as “Barbarian Hitlerism.” Sackler was outspoken, calling it ridiculous, and he might even have helped some students at Harlem’s P.S. 43 with posters they distributed protesting the Red Cross policy. (The Red Cross ended its blood segregation policy in 1949. Arkansas required it until 1969 and Louisiana until 1972.)86

Sackler’s activism brought him to the attention of the FBI in 1945. In a forty-nine-page memo sent to J. Edgar Hoover, the New York field office provided details about a February fundraising dinner at Times Square’s Hotel Astor for the Joint Anti-Fascist Refugee Committee (it was soon placed on the attorney general’s List of Subversive Organizations).87 The ostensible purpose was to honor playwright Lillian Hellman, and to kick off a $750,000 fundraising drive to fight Spanish fascists (Pablo Picasso was an honorary chairman). Poet Dorothy Parker introduced Hellman, who had just returned from the Soviet Union. Hellman was one of the first Americans allowed to visit the Red Army at the front, and she regaled the audience with stories of how Russians fought for Soviet-style communism. There were several dozen banquet tables, each with ten paying guests; all proceeds went to the money drive. The FBI obtained a list of attendees. Table 72 was “Arthur and Else Sackler and Bill Frohlich.”88 Three months later, the FBI noted the Sacklers attended another Refugee Committee fundraiser, this time a “Doctor’s Dinner” at the Hotel Commodore.89

The FBI understood that not everyone at left-wing fundraisers was a communist, much less a security threat. However, it also realized that while the American Communist Party had about 70,000 card-carrying members by 1945, there were many more supporters who were not formal members. When the Cold War got under way after World War II ended, the Bureau focused on Soviet espionage. At the top of the FBI’s suspect list were committed communists and those sympathetic to the Red cause.

In 1947, Arthur pushed politics into the background to concentrate on his career. He took the state medical exam and received his license to practice as Abraham Sackler. Mortimer got his medical license a few months later, and Raymond got his the following year.90 The author uncovered that just a couple of years before the trio got their professional licenses, they had incorporated Pharmaceutical Research Associates, their first joint business.91 It was one of the earliest companies dedicated to conducting safety trials for new drugs. As the requirements for drug approval tightened in the coming decades, it designed and managed trials and prepared and submitted regulatory filings. Pharmaceutical Research Associates also bore a feature that would be a Sackler trademark in many future ventures: their ownership was secret.92 Dr. Alfred Halpern, a Sackler family friend, was the only publicly listed name associated with the firm through the 1950s. Its address was 17 East 62nd Street, a five-story limestone townhouse that figured prominently in future Sackler ventures.93

It was not long after Arthur got his medical license that he told Mortie and Ray, as he called them, that he needed to reduce his Creedmoor workload.94 He and his wife, Else, had saved enough to buy a one third share of William Douglas McAdams. It was one of the few companies in which the Sacklers could not remain anonymous. It was a prescient move; just as the breakthrough with antibiotics was revolutionizing the drug business, it would soon foster a competitive market tailor-made for modern advertising.II 95

I. The FBI file for Beverly Sackler, née Feldman, is thus far only declassified in part. The FBI informed the author that at least one file on Raymond Sackler, created by the New York Field Office (100-NY-75887) was destroyed by the Bureau on November 12, 1970. That was, according to the FBI, done as a “periodic destruction of records pursuant to a legal schedule.” The author consulted with an attorney specializing in the Freedom of Information Act. Pending the release of additional information now withheld by the FBI, it is not possible to verify if that purge of the New York field office file on Raymond Sackler was in accordance with the statutory requirements. The FBI identified to the author four additional, still-classified files, as potentially relevant to Raymond Sackler and/or Arthur Sackler. The author filed a public access records request for those files to the National Archives Special Access division. The Archives deemed that two, both from the Boston FBI—100-BS-15 and 100-BS-589—were “unresponsive to your request.” Although they were about Americans who were Communist Party members in the Boston area, they had “no mention of any of the Sacklers.” Two other files—100-HQ-340415 and 100-NY-75702—were responsive. They contain a total of approximately 350 pages about Arthur Sackler; the headquarters files (HQ) are an investigation into Arthur from March 1945 to July 1968, and the New York office file (NY) covers an FBI probe into him from November 1944 to July 1968. Although both files are in the Archives’ first-tier processing queue, the Archives estimates that it is unlikely that a review and release of information shall take place before April 2020. The author became aware of another FBI file focused solely on Arthur Sackler—100-NY-75887—not in the possession of the National Archives but likely still in the Bureau’s custody. A formal request for declassification of that file was made in April 2018 and it is pending with the Bureau’s Freedom of Information Office. Finally, University of New Hampshire professor Ben Harris provided the author a copy of eighty-nine pages released by the FBI in 1999 subject to his request about Arthur Sackler (FOIPA No. 442908).

II. The author discovered that one third remained with William McAdams, and one third was owned by Helen Haberman, the company’s executive vice president. By 1953, McAdams’s share was reduced to 10 percent and Arthur and Else had 46 percent with Haberman holding 44 percent.






9 MEDICINE AVENUE


By 1950, McAdams was the most successful agency of the handful that focused on medical advertising, a specialty that a John Hopkins professor later dubbed Medicine Avenue.1 McAdams held that top spot for more than fifteen years until the big agencies played catch-up, after having mistakenly assumed the field would never take off.2 Sackler and Frohlich—whose agencies dominated early on—had a friendship that superseded any business rivalry.3 The duo, often joined by Arthur’s wife, Else, attended art auctions and spent weekends trolling through flea markets and small antique shops. One day, Arthur later recalled, “I came upon some Chinese ceramics and Ming furniture. My life has not been the same since.”4 Sackler’s awakening came at Transorient, a tiny Manhattan antique shop owned by a noted British art dealer, William Drummond.5 That chance visit sparked in Sackler what became a lifelong passion.

The same year he told his brothers he was pulling back from Creedmoor, he created a not-for-profit corporation in New York called the Arthur M. Sackler Foundation.6 It was the type of legal entity used by America’s wealthiest families to shelter their art holdings and to make bequests to museums and public trusts.7 I 8

It was far more, however, than their shared interest in fine art that tied Frohlich and Sackler. They pooled information about clients, cooperated on drug launch strategies, and divided the market between them when firms released virtually identical drugs.9 What no one then knew was that Arthur had secretly invested in Frohlich’s agency and had a controlling interest.10 When confronted years later, Sackler denied to The New York Times that he had any ownership stake in the Frohlich agency.11 “That’s because of conflicts of interest,” Michael Sonnenreich, later Arthur’s attorney and confidant, disclosed. “You couldn’t represent two firms with competing products, so Frohlich’s firm would handle a second product.”12 (Frohlich would later have his own secret ownership in a biweekly newspaper Sackler launched in 1960.)13

Although Arthur’s secret link with Frohlich’s agency gave him a step up on his other competitors, his rivals did not concern him. He was fully confident in his unorthodox vision for upending how pharma marketed its drugs. He pitched his novel ideas to one firm after another. No longer, he told them, should drug companies sell their products as if they were in a church and they could only whisper about it to the person in the adjoining pew. It was time, he contended, to develop sales departments capable of personally visiting thousands of doctors. Most physicians were so busy running their practices, he suggested, they did not have time to research which one of many drugs was the best to treat a patient’s condition. Sackler believed a drug company had to win the doctor’s loyalty for its entire product line. He brimmed with ideas. Promotions, drug conferences, advertisements in their favorite journals, exhibits at medical conventions, and saturating physicians with free samples. Although the FDA banned all direct drug advertising to the public, Arthur had a clever strategy for disguising product promotion as “news” covered in the consumer press.14 It was possible in America’s consumer culture to stoke a drug’s popularity by getting patients to ask for it by its brand name. It turned out to be an inspired idea, although as Frohlich noted, “no physician relished the prospect of hearing about new drugs from his patients.”15

Sackler had endless energy. His McAdams employees had no doubt he was a workaholic and perfectionist; one of his executives described him as “controversial, unsettling, [and] difficult.”16 Sackler was most demanding, however, on himself. Many who worked for him initially liked the highly charged atmosphere in which they competed to earn his approval.17 Over time, some burned out and left unhappy, not only about the long hours but also the withering criticism to which Sackler sometimes subjected employees.18

Sackler thought his workers needed “a thicker skin.”19 And he was so preoccupied with work that there was little time for his family. His relationship with his wife, Else, and his daughter, Carol, suffered. They were often asleep by the time he got home late from the office. When not working, he was scouring antique stores and auction houses. Else had stopped joining him on those expeditions; their five-year-old daughter had little patience for a full day of hunting for Chinese collectibles and Else did not like leaving her with a baby-sitter.

One night in February 1947, Arthur went to a costume party at a hospital in Far Rockway, Queens, where Mortimer and Raymond were completing internships. Early that evening, a curvaceous woman dressed as a cabaret singer transfixed him. Who is that? he asked Mortimer. It was Marietta Lutze, herself a doctor, and one of the heirs to Dr. Kade, a privately owned 120-year-old German pharmaceutical firm.20 Marietta had arrived in America only five months after the end of the war and began her medical internship at the same hospital as Sackler’s younger brothers.21

Arthur struck up a conversation. He learned she was twenty-nine, six years younger than he. She came from a liberal Protestant and Catholic family and got her medical degree at the University of Berlin during the war. Arthur knew that school was the one the Nazi propaganda machine had selected for the great spectacle of burning twenty thousand “degenerate” books. By the time Marietta began her studies in 1939, 250 Jewish professors and administrators had been expelled and replaced with Nazi Party members who promoted racial eugenics.22

Marietta’s first impressions of Sackler were his “professional air” and “his voice was very soft and persuasive, even comforting. I liked his blue eyes.… I don’t know what we talked about but, whatever it was, it was intense, I can say that.”23 He asked her for a date, never once mentioning he was married. She liked him but was so “overwhelmed” at work that she said no.

Shortly after meeting Marietta, Arthur found time that March to attend the three-day Scientific and Cultural Conference for World Peace in New York. The sponsoring organization was the National Council of the Arts, Sciences, and Professions, a Communist Party front group. Sackler’s connection to the event was Alfred Stern, the businessman he had tried to interest seven years earlier in buying Schering. The two had become friends. Arthur mixed at cocktail parties hosted by the Sterns at their sprawling Central Park West co-op and at intimate dinners at the couple’s waterfront summer home in Connecticut.24

Arthur had an endless list of business ventures to pitch. In 1948 he again approached Stern, this time to see if he might be interested in helping Arthur buy Purdue Frederick, a small patent medicine company on New York’s Lower East Side. Named after its nineteenth-century founders, Drs. John Purdue Gray and George Frederick Bingham, its annual revenues were only $20,000, less than Arthur had spent the previous year on Asian art.25 It offered only a few “ethical over-the-counter” products; its top seller was Gray’s Glycerine Tonic Compound, an alcohol-based “metabolic cerebral tonic.”26 Arthur thought an established drug company, even a tiny one like Purdue Frederick, could play a role in their future business projects. Stern was not convinced, and as he had when Sackler approached him about purchasing Schering during World War II, he passed.27

Less than a week after Stern turned him down, Arthur accepted an appointment as the deputy director of research at Creedmoor Psychiatric Center.28 It was only part-time, he assured Mortimer and Raymond, who had wondered how he could manage all his responsibilities. Arthur assured them it was not a problem. In January 1949, Sackler created the Medical & Pharmaceutical Information Bureau (MPIB), the first company specializing in placing articles in the nonmedical lay press. It was part of his strategy designed to hype new drugs, sometimes before they even had FDA approval.29 Sackler referred his McAdams drug clients to MPIB; most did not know he was its founder. Every week MPIB sent draft articles to editors and reporters with whom Sackler had developed good relationships. A Senate investigation would later find that MPIB planted stories in many publications, including The Saturday Evening Post and Reader’s Digest. They were ostensibly about “new developments in medicine.” Somewhere in each article, however, a “wonder drug” was invariably introduced. That generalized media coverage helped Sackler in creating public demand for a drug. Every time patients asked for “that marvelous drug I read about in the paper the other day” it buttressed the efforts of the pharmaceutical company’s detail men and ads. Wall Street traders soon realized that MPIB’s “news” sometimes provided an advance peek at a new blockbuster drug. A good MPIB article could cause a stock price to spike. (The same Senate probe later determined that Arthur Sackler traded stocks, including a large ownership position in Pfizer. Arthur sometimes made his buy and sell decisions on advance knowledge he had about what was in the MPIB publication pipeline. The SEC did not enforce “insider trading” cases against private individuals until 1965.)30

Marietta came back into Arthur’s life a few months after the birth of the Sacklers’ second daughter, Elizabeth Anne. When her hospital internship ended, she had asked Raymond and Mortimer if they knew where she might find the second internship she needed before she could take the exams for her American medical license. They suggested she talk to Arthur as he was then directing a large research project on schizophrenia at Creedmoor.31 After a brief stint at Queens General City Hospital, Marietta started working at Creedmoor with the Sacklers. Despite having discovered from his brothers that “he was married and had two children, [and] he’d had other relationships with women,” when Arthur again asked for a date, Marietta agreed.32

She was about to learn one of Arthur’s hardwired traits, a relentless focus on getting whatever he wanted. Daily flowers, gifts, surprise visits at all hours, “the intensity of the pursuit was overwhelming.” In a few months, she told him over dinner that “you’re the kind of man I could marry.” What followed were angst-ridden discussions in which they each acknowledged their passionate fling was destructive for Arthur’s wife and daughters. They decided to end their relationship. Their separation lasted only two weeks before the affair restarted.

In June 1949, Marietta returned to Germany to tend to her terminally ill grandmother. She had not felt well before her trip, battling fatigue and daily waves of nausea. “Even though I was a physician, I didn’t think to diagnose my own pregnancy.”33 When her grandmother died that July, Marietta was the sole heir to Dr. Kade, her family’s thriving pharmaceutical firm. It had emerged mostly unscathed from the devastation of World War II. Arthur sent her daily letters about how much he loved and missed her. In his note of June 30, he wrote: “When you come home, we will start a new life—it will be full of hope, joy and of passion.”34

On Marietta’s return to New York that fall, Arthur went to Mexico and got a fast divorce. Else retained custody of their daughters. To the surprise of many friends who expected Else to be furious with her husband’s betrayal, she remained a distant part of Arthur’s social circle. She was, as friends discovered, still attracted to his “maddening magnetism.” Else also knew that remaining on good terms was best for their daughters. Arthur loved her, not as a wife, but as someone he trusted. He let her retain her ownership stake in William Douglas McAdams.35

Arthur and Marietta married hastily that December. Sophie Sackler gave her new German daughter-in-law a cool reception. The Orthodox Jewish matriarch of the Sackler family was distressed not only because she saw Marietta as a homewrecker, but also because of her German heritage. How could she have been unaware of what the Nazis were doing to German Jews when she was studying for her medical degree in wartime Berlin? “It was best to protect myself as others did,” Marietta said, “much in the way the ‘wise monkeys’ hear no evil.”36 She tried to win over Sophie, but was not willing to convert to Judaism as had Else. Arthur was satisfied so long as his mother and new wife remained civil to each other, which they mostly did.

All the personal upheaval did not cause Arthur to lose any focus in his businesses. He had too many financial obligations to slow up. Just after they married, Marietta saw that he was under a “great financial burden.” Arthur was subsidizing his own medical research and ad agency, supporting his mother and mother-in-law, his ex-wife and two children, and even aiding his brothers and their families. Everyone looked to him for money.

“I compared him to the Atlas in front of Rockefeller Center who carries the world,” Marietta concluded. “To Arthur, that role may have felt natural.”37 What she did not realize then but soon saw was that Arthur envisioned himself as the sun in his own solar system; everyone else was merely “a planet… [who] could not step out of their separate non-intersecting orbits.”

On February 9, 1950, he rushed Marietta to New York Hospital for the birth of their first child. While she was in labor, he apologized to the delivering doctor because he was scheduled to make the dedication at the Creedmoor Institute. He left the hospital before the birth of his first son, Arthur Jr.38

Missing his son’s birth “marked the beginning of a pattern in our marriage,” Marietta later observed. It rankled her that “Arthur continued seeing his former wife (without consulting me) and he allowed her needs to take precedence over mine and the children.”39 Marietta soon discovered that, for Arthur, family was less important than his career. In the late summer of 1950, just after he turned thirty-seven, Arthur was appointed chairman of the First International Congress of Psychiatry. While many people would have found all the disparate obligations overwhelming, he thrived on an ever more demanding schedule. He sold his interest in his two-year-old medical article placement firm, MPIB. With that money he opened a small competitor to MPIB, Medimetrics. He even encouraged his friend and sometimes business partner, Bill Frohlich, to establish his own MPIB competitor (Science Information Bureau).40 This all happened while Arthur was preparing for the dedication of the Institute of Psychobiological Studies at Creedmoor.41 Although it was eighteen years after his friend Alfred Stern had funded Chicago’s Institute for Psychoanalysis, Arthur was proud that Creedmoor’s center was the first American facility devoted to biological psychiatry.42 The Sackler brothers saw it as an opportunity to further their research into possible connections between the endocrine system and mental illness.43 The trio, alone and with collaborators, would eventually publish more than 150 scientific papers about human behavior, pharmaceuticals, biological psychiatry, and experimental medicine.44 The Sacklers would be among the earliest to find a link between instances of psychosis and cortisone.

Complementing his work at Creedmoor, Arthur soon added to his responsibilities the editor-in-chief’s role at The Journal of Clinical and Experimental Psychopathology; its board of directors included some prominent international researchers as well as his brothers.45 Later he added the director’s role at the College of Pharmacy in Long Island University as well as becoming a professor of therapeutic research there.46

Most people with the demanding professional responsibilities Arthur had assumed would have had little opportunity or desire to indulge personal pursuits. Sackler not only found the spare time but delved into it with the same intensity with which he approached his businesses. What begun innocently enough as an interest in Chinese antiquities had become a self-admitted “passion.”47 “When some people are frustrated, they go out and buy a new hat, or tie,” he later said, “[so] my collections are in a sense the measure of my frustrations.”48 Marietta thought the compulsive collecting had less to do with his frustrations than with his overriding “necessity for prestige and recognition.”49 To his medical and advertising colleagues and fellow art collectors, Arthur Sackler was the epitome of a self-confident man who accomplished a great deal through discipline and organization. “A man of promethean intellect and energy,” was the judgment of Harvard art historian John Rosenfield.50

“His public side, of course, was charming,” noted Marietta. “A gifted intellectual, he could match anyone in debate. An engaging speaker and conversationalist, he moved people with his passion and intellectual power.”51

Marietta, however, was witness to another side, “the fine line between fascination and obsession.”52 She saw the restlessness caused by his deep “need to achieve… that his name not be forgotten by the world.” She was just beginning to understand how “his tremendous intellectual gifts were also his greatest demons, whipping him to produce ever more.”53

“At night, he’d come home from the office,” she recalled, “he would consume volumes on Chinese art and archaeology. I tried keeping up with him at first, but, soon, he outdistanced me. His speed of comprehension, his ability to integrate masses of material and his talent for turning all that knowledge into informed purchasing decisions were quite astonishing.”54 At an early moment of introspection, Arthur feared his collecting was “not always controllable.”55

The dealers knew he was a serious and compulsive collector. They often enticed him to buy pieces he could not afford by financing his costlier acquisitions. Some of those arrangements, Marietta recalled, “extended over many years.”56 It created new obligations that kept him running ever harder in his professional life. Meanwhile, boxes of “ritual bronzes and weapons, mirrors and ceramics, inscribed bones and archaic jades” filled their home and spilled over to storage warehouses. “There was too much to open, too much to appreciate; some objects known only by a packing list.”57

Arthur was in the early days of acquiring works of art that would become over time a stunning collection of Chinese and Asian antiquities, pre-Columbian and Iranian ceramics, Indian sculpture, Baroque terra-cottas, Postimpressionist paintings, Renaissance majolicas, and Piranesi drawings. A museum curator later dubbed him “a modern Medici.”58

“I contracted the disease,” he acknowledged later. “I was never able to develop an immunity to works of art.”59

“As his knowledge grew, he became more and more passionate about it,” said Marietta. “His fascination then turned in on itself and came to rule him.”60

Marietta was not just Arthur’s wife, she had become a psychiatrist after their marriage. She could not help but sometimes see him through her professional lens. “Addiction is a curse, be it drugs, women, or collecting.”61

I. Mortimer and Raymond were then working on the medical staff at Creedmoor Psychiatric Hospital. They also incorporated their own charitable foundations in the 1960s. Much later they created parallel foundations and trusts in the United Kingdom. As of 2019, the author located twelve Sackler-named charitable foundations active in New York alone.






10 THE HARD SELL BLITZ


In 1951, the Sacklers published one of their most provocative theories, that schizophrenia might be identified by changes in blood as it clotted, and that ultrasonometry (the predecessor to ultrasound) could track physiological changes in schizophrenics.1 They proposed the controversial thesis that histamines might effectively treat schizophrenics. Marietta worked with them extensively on that paper, but she was disappointed not to be listed as one of the authors. It took several years before she shared credit with the brothers, an overview of “psychiatric research perspectives at the Creedmoor Institute.” It marked the one time four Sacklers were listed on a scientific publication.2

Marietta felt like an outsider to the family club. It was the same for Muriel Lazarus, Mortimer’s wife, who was a researcher in biochemical genetics as well as a practicing psychoanalyst.3 Another physician, however, who joined the brothers on scholarly collaborations, did become a trusted insider. Félix Martí-Ibáñez was a sociable and urbane Spanish psychiatrist. He and the Sackler brothers would go on to edit a remarkably ambitious book, The Great Physiodynamic Therapies in Psychiatry: An Historical Reappraisal. It was filled with contributions from some of the era’s leading researchers opining about treatments for mental illness, from electroshock to insulin shock to lobotomies. The Sacklers and Martí-Ibáñez predicted that the treatment of choice would soon be “narcobiotics” (their vision of some yet-to-be-invented hybrid of tranquilizers as readily dispensed as antibiotics).4 The four doctors considered themselves pioneers in the biological underpinnings of treating mental disorders. When they later discussed an ambitious book on “The Geography and the World Patterns of Schizophrenia and Other Mental Illnesses,” Martí-Ibáñez wrote a letter to the Sacklers concluding, “The research and sociologic value of this project would be portentous. This might be Nobel Prize stuff. What do you say, boys?”5

Just as Arthur Sackler was more than a mere psychiatrist, Martí-Ibáñez was a self-described anarchist, historian, novelist, and entrepreneur. His résumé impressed even the Sacklers. He grew up in Cartagena, Spain; his mother was a noted pianist, his father a scholar and prolific author of dozens of books about education.6 Martí-Ibáñez was a gifted student. He teased Arthur that he was only nineteen when he got his medical degree at the University of Madrid, five years faster than Sackler.7 In another year he earned his doctorate in philosophy with a thesis about the history of the physiology and psychology of Indian mystics. After graduation, he traveled throughout Spain, lecturing at schools and social halls. As word spread about his ever-changing topics—rotating between medicine, art, graphic design, mythology, and even urban planning—he attracted ever-larger audiences. At twenty-one he published a scandalous short essay about “homosexuality throughout the history of the West.”8 He then set off a firestorm by condemning both the “dogmatic moralists” of the Catholic Church and Spain’s growing fascist movement. Before long he championed other progressive and then unpopular campaigns, from the suffragist movement to proposing that a Marxist economy might be best for Spain. A government minister who attended one of his impassioned talks was so impressed that he named Martí-Ibáñez, then twenty-six, as the general director of public health and social service for Catalonia.9 Two years later he became Spain’s undersecretary of public health. By then, civil war wracked Spain. Neo-fascists led by General Francisco Franco battled the leftist government of the Second Republic. Martí-Ibáñez represented the Republic in the 1938 Universal Peace Congresses in Geneva, New York, and Mexico City. On returning to Spain he joined the air force’s medical corps.10 He suffered a shrapnel wound after only a few weeks and had barely recovered when the fascists captured Barcelona in January 1939. On Franco’s wanted list, Martí-Ibáñez fled with the last contingent of Loyalist troops to the French Pyrenees. Some friends there helped him escape to America.11

The sociable polymath reinvented himself in New York. Six months after arriving in the U.S., Swiss-based Hoffmann-La Roche hired him as a consultant. In his free time, he assumed editorial roles at half a dozen medical, psychological, and psychopathological journals, as well as presenting his own papers at scientific conferences.12 After three years he left La Roche to become the medical director responsible for Latin American sales for U.S.-based Winthrop-Stearns. The Journal of the American Medical Association offered him the editor-in-chief’s role for a proposed Spanish-language edition. He accepted instead an offer from Squibb for a post that put him in the middle of both drug development and marketing.13 It was in that role that Martí-Ibáñez met Arthur Sackler and Ludwig (Bill) Frohlich in the embryonic world of medical advertisement.14

It is little wonder that the man who later wrote in his autobiography, “There is only one way to defeat death—to live fast,” attracted the attention of Sackler and Frohlich.15 Martí-Ibáñez admired Sackler’s endless energy and willingness to take risks. In Sackler he had found a kindred soul for turning the medical status quo upside down. With Bill Frohlich, Martí-Ibáñez shared a genteel sophistication and love for arts and culture. At Frohlich’s East Side townhouse parties, Martí-Ibáñez regaled the guests with tales of his offbeat travels to Africa and Asia or his musings about everything from medical philosophy in the Renaissance or the Spain of Don Quixote to the lost science of alchemy. He even presented his unorthodox theory that stress might cause disease. He used Frohlich’s parties as an informal test market for his ideas. Those that provoked the best responses he turned into articles.16

Sackler wanted Martí-Ibáñez as a partner in his own ambitious plans to remake how the pharmaceutical world sold its products. The two spoke about it frequently but no early idea seemed quite right. When Martí-Ibáñez left Squibb, he opened a private psychiatric practice in Manhattan. He also became a regular lecturer at New York Medical College and Flower and Fifth Hospital.17 Arthur hired him as a special consultant at the McAdams agency, and later made him a director of a wholly owned subsidiary, McAdams International.18 In the spring of 1951, they formed MD Publications Inc., a shell company they agreed to keep inactive until the right opportunity arose. No one was aware that the Sacklers had put up most of the seed money and held a controlling stake. MD Publications shared office space with the McAdams agency.19 I 20

Neither Martí-Ibáñez nor Arthur Sackler hid their considerable ambition. That sparked strong reactions from people who either admired their naked drive or considered it crass and overbearing. A series of seemingly unconnected events would soon put the duo into medical publishing, a venture that made them rich and presented an opportunity to wield unseemly power with the FDA.

In the marketing pitches Arthur had made to middle management at pharma firms, many thought his ideas too risky and him overconfident. He was, they concluded, trying to turn drugs into another lucrative ad business, like the ones that flourished for cars, tobacco, and consumer goods. Sackler did not endear himself to those midlevel managers when he tried going over their heads to top executives.21

When Sackler met Thomas Winn, Pfizer’s sales director, he said that he would make Charles Pfizer a household name if the company gave him a big enough budget.22 That decision could only be made by the company’s CEO, John McKeen. It took another outsized personality like McKeen to embrace Sackler and trust him with something as critical as Pfizer’s rollout of its much anticipated broad-spectrum antibiotic, Terramycin. McKeen set aside $7.5 million—then a record—for ads and promotion. The company even agreed to install a specially built telephone switchboard to handle what Sackler promised would be a record volume of calls.

On March 15, 1951, Pfizer sent over eight hundred telegrams to every drug wholesaler in the country alerting them to imminent FDA approval. It offered a deep discount for early buyers.23 It was the start of what Business Week called “the Terramycin blitz.”24

The eight-man “details team” group McKeen had hired stood at pay phones across the country, waiting for a call from headquarters to begin visiting doctors. Over several weeks, crisscrossing the country, they pitched Terramycin to several thousand physicians. Pfizer drafted seventy third-year medical students to assist the detail men.25

Sackler knew no matter how hard they worked, the Pfizer field force was too small to reach every doctor. So he unleashed a blitzkrieg of direct mailers to clinicians and physicians, as well as pharmacists, including those at hospitals (about 85 percent of all hospitals had in-house pharmacies then).26 Physicians known as heavy prescribers received two to three direct mail pitches daily for nearly a year.27 Sackler employed a team of copywriters who worked on multiple campaigns, from letters to glossy brochures to Rolodex–ready file cards. One mailing was thousands of handwritten postcards that looked as if they were sent from exotic locations, such as India’s Taj Mahal, Egypt’s pyramids, and the Great Barrier Reef. Everyone had a brief story of how Terramycin was eradicating diseases in each country. Signed “Sincerely Pfizer,” those cards quickly became collectibles.28

Pfizer soon introduced its in-house magazine, Spectrum, and had reprinted it as an eight-page glossy color insert in the prestigious Journal of the American Medical Association. Before Sackler released his advertising onslaught, JAMA’s pages were virtually free of branded drugs and featured mostly medical supplies. In the early 1950s, even tobacco companies placed cigarette ads.29 Sackler saturated JAMA with his Pfizer campaign. Its ad pages jumped more than 500 percent over a couple of years, more ads than Life, and 75 percent of its antibiotic ads were for Terramycin.30 At rates of more than $1,000 a page, and thousands of pages annually, JAMA and other premier medical journals grew dependent over time to pharma’s promotion money. By the late 1960s, JAMA’s $15 million in ad revenues was 40 percent of the AMA’s income.31

Pfizer agreed with Sackler’s recommendation to concentrate the bulk of Terramycin’s print campaign in JAMA. To advertise in a handful of other leading journals might have seemed a commonsense strategy. It was, instead, as with much connected to Arthur Sackler, more complicated and calculating. Arthur knew that Congress’s legislative effort to curb false and misleading advertisements, the 1938 Wheeler Lea Act, bypassed the FDA by empowering the Federal Trade Commission with oversight of accuracy in drug ads. But there was a loophole: since doctors were judged capable of assessing the accuracy of drug promotion, ads in medical journals were free from oversight.32 Sackler had focused on the medium in which the government was powerless to constrain his copy. Ads that boasted that Terramycin was “one of the most complex structures to ever be found in nature” were Sackler’s way of making the drug appear to be far more innovative than it was.33 II 34

It was not long before Sackler was the first to experiment with radio ads. Some of his tactics became standard for the industry, including twenty-four-hour sales marathons and rich bonuses for sales reps. He helped persuade the American Medical Association that drug advertising would benefit if the companies had information about the prescribing habits of doctors. The AMA’s Business Division started sending rudimentary monthly reports measuring the impact of ads on a cross-section of five hundred physicians nationwide.

Pfizer’s McKeen told the New York Security Analysts Society that the company’s great success was the result of “using vigorous promotional techniques.”35 That was an understatement. One of Sackler’s Madison Avenue competitors, William Castagnoli, said it “is hard to quantify his influence on medical advertising, his impact was so great.… As head of McAdams, he took a chemical company new to the prescription drug market, Pfizer, and made it a force in the industry.”36 The Medical Advertising Hall of Fame later noted, “No single individual did more to shape the character of medical advertising.… His seminal contribution was bringing the full power of advertising and promotion to pharmaceutical marketing.… [His] campaign for Terramycin forever changed the industry’s marketing model.”37

Terramycin sales exceeded even McKeen’s lofty expectations. Pfizer bought a surplus submarine shipyard in Groton, Connecticut, and converted it into the world’s largest fermentation plant.38 It operated at capacity to produce Terramycin around the clock. In under a year, Pfizer’s detail team had ballooned from eight to three hundred (on its way to two thousand in five years).39 Those most sought after were college graduates with chemistry, biology, or pharmacology degrees.40 Still, they went through twelve months of training. They were taught that while technical knowledge was key, it was also important to cultivate a personal connection with the doctors they visited. Sales representatives asked for and remembered the details about families, outside hobbies, and favorite sports. Half of physicians surveyed later said that the best of them were more like a friend than a salesman.41 Each sales rep would be responsible for about three hundred doctors.42

McKeen made certain Pfizer’s researchers and attorneys were relentless in getting FDA approvals for Terramycin in other formats, from pills to powders to eye drops, while expanding the conditions for which it could be prescribed to nearly forty. Americans were spending $100 million on broad-spectrum antibiotics like Terramycin, more than on penicillin, sulfanilamides, vitamins, nostrums, hormones, and botanicals combined.43 Pfizer’s profit margin was 50 percent, Lederle and Parke-Davis 40 percent and 35 percent, respectively. To handle the booming international demand for Terramycin, Pfizer opened offices in thirteen countries (some European countries had import duties that were incentives for American firms to open foreign subsidiaries).44 Terramycin’s success meant Pfizer accounted for a quarter of worldwide antibiotic sales, making it the number one firm in revenues in the pharmaceutical industry.45

Pfizer’s aggressive marketing and sales tactics not only recast the company but transformed the industry. Traditionalists bitterly complained that Sackler’s “hard sell” was unseemly and disturbing.46 However, as competitors saw sales and profits set records for Pfizer, they did their best to copy the playbook. Rivals expanded sales departments and beefed-up marketing to doctors. Merck, playing catch-up, merged with Sharp & Dohme, a small firm well known for its experienced sales team.47

While Pfizer’s Terramycin was a marketing wonder, it also benefited from the elevated regard with which the public still held the industry. Expectations for the latest drugs were high. Besides antibiotics, there were new medications to treat glaucoma, arthritis, and schizophrenia; a second generation of tranquilizers; oral contraceptives; and even a first to reverse an opioid overdose. Research was under way on an antianxiety that would kick off a revolution for meds marketed as “emotional aspirin.” There was hope a polio vaccine might wipe out the disease made infamous in a country where most people had personal memories of how it had put Franklin Roosevelt into a wheelchair.

The public seemed unfazed when the first studies appeared indicating that lifestyle choices, not simply bacterial pathogens, might affect health and longevity. Smoking was tied to lung cancer for the first time in 1950 and later, when Pfizer released Terramycin, a report concluded diet might contribute to heart disease.48 Arthur Sackler was in a tiny minority; he was so against smoking that he did not allow it inside the McAdams offices.49 But most people, even many physicians, refused to believe that smoking and food could lead to chronic or fatal diseases. Even if true, however, the overriding faith in science and pharma was strong. Many shrugged it off; there would be a pill one day to take care of it, much as there was an antibiotic to treat infectious diseases.50

Pfizer and its rivals did not simply want to rely on a combination of public goodwill and a marketing blitz to keep antibiotic sales at record levels. They began a unified lobbying effort to get a major modification to the U.S Patent Law. The language they wanted would set a lower innovation threshold for granting a drug patent. It would give legal protection to antibiotics discovered through mass, routine screening of microbial soil samples.51 When Congress modified the statute the following year (1952), it opened the door to a larger number of drugs on an ever-quicker pipeline from the lab to the marketplace.

That was the same year a Pfizer biologist got permission for “Project Piglet,” in which he tested sub-therapeutic doses of antibiotics on pigs. The result? It accelerated their growth. Pfizer used those findings to market antibiotics to farmers who began using them in feed for cattle, pigs, and chickens.52 CEO John McKeen liked that sales for farm animals were consistent and did not depend as they did with humans on epidemics or outbreaks of disease. Pfizer created the first separate sales and marketing team for agricultural products and other pharmaceutical firms followed. In a few years, bulk sales of antibiotics for agricultural uses accounted for a quarter of all production.53 III 54 No one worried that daily exposures to antibiotics might kill only the weakest bacteria in animals and that the surviving organisms would become stronger and far more robust pathogens.55

The Terramycin launch was barely over when Arthur was again restless. It would be good, he thought, to have something on which he and his two brothers could work together. Arthur decided to buy the small New York drugmaker Purdue Frederick Company, the company he had pitched unsuccessfully in 1948 to his friend Alfred Stern. Not much had changed in four years. Purdue’s annual revenues were still anemic and its best-selling product remained its “cerebral tonic,” Gray’s Glycerine Tonic Compound.56 Operating out of a small office at 135 Christopher Street, the company was struggling to adapt to the rapid changes of the postwar pharmaceutical industry.57

Although Arthur had put up most of the money to buy Purdue Frederick in June 1952, the Sackler brothers agreed they owned it equally. None of their names, however, appeared on the New York State incorporation papers.

Mortimer asked what they would do with Purdue.

“We will sell what they have better than they did,” Arthur said. “And then we will find our own products as we go along.”

I. In a New York Times profile thirty years later, Arthur Sackler denied any ownership in MD Publications, claiming instead he had been a consultant and had started a “well-known medical news magazine” for the company. Martí-Ibáñez was dead by the time of that interview. However, a Senate investigative staff later uncovered evidence that Arthur Sackler had funded the MD Publications start-up through his McAdams ad agency. Also, documents from Arthur’s estate after his 1987 death confirmed that the Sackler brothers had indeed owned a majority interest in MD Publications.

The author discovered that the year before Arthur Sackler founded MD Publications, he had created the Angiology Research Foundation for the clinical testing of drugs for vascular diseases. The year after creating MD Publications, he incorporated the Inter America Medical Press and International Medical Press, both designed to help foreign drug companies promote their products in the U.S. The Sackler ownership interests remained secret.

II. When Pfizer released chlorpropamide in a few years, it targeted pre-diabetic patients who needed to stabilize their insulin levels. Sackler’s promotion claimed an “almost complete absence of unfavorable side effects.” In fact, Pfizer had commissioned a pre-release study that revealed “serious side effects” in 27 percent of test patients.

III. Research was even conducted for three years in New York on mentally deficient spastic children to determine whether low-dose antibiotics might boost childhood growth rates. It did, but pharma companies never sold their products to add quick bulk to children. In 1954, when penicillin discoverer Alexander Fleming visited the U.S., he was skeptical when he learned about that research. “I can’t predict that feeding penicillin to babies will do society much good. Making people larger might do more harm than good.” Although pharma did not market antibiotics to children for accelerated growth, children in the U.S. and Western Europe inadvertently ingested the drugs. Estimates are that through the 1950s, about 10 percent of every container of milk had penicillin residue from treated cows. At that time, farmers used the same penicillin developed for humans on cows.
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